

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

# Managing State-Owned Enterprises: The Special Projects of Ghana

Edward Akuamoah Boateng *Walden University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Business Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Edward Boateng

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Roger Mayer, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Gergana Velkova, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Gregory Uche, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2016

Abstract

Managing State-Owned Enterprises: The Special Projects of Ghana

by

Edward Akuamoah Boateng

MBA, Napier University, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2016

Abstract

State-owned enterprise (SOE) failures continue to burden the government of Ghana. During the 5-year period ending in 2012, the profits from these equity investments dropped by 80%. This study was an exploratory case study of how top-down, boarddirected governance structure impact the control and ethical structure of special projects. Sixteen participants, comprised of managers, technicians, and board members, were recruited from 4 separate special projects in northern, central, and southern Ghana. Agency theory formed the conceptual framework for this study. Data collected from the face-to-face interviews and supporting documents were processed and analyzed to discern emergent themes. Through methodological triangulation, 5 main themes emerged including board influence on management and operations, operational and financial controls, ethical values, quality assurance, and motivation. The implications for positive social change include helping to reduce poverty within the local communities of Ghana through the creation of competitive projects that can sustain a productive workforce. Managing State Owned Enterprise: The Special Projects of Ghana

by

Edward Akuamoah Boateng

MBA, Napier University, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2016

#### Dedication

I dedicate this research study to the memory of my late mother, Madam Adelaide Oppon, who supported me in the difficult moments of my higher educational pursuit. I am grateful to God for giving me such a mother. I thank the Controller and Accountant General of Ghana, Ms. Grace Adzroe for assisting me to gain financial support for this study and making this dream a reality. Ms. Adzroe, I thank you from the bottom of my heart, ever since our paths crossed you have offered strong support for my endeavors. My special appreciation goes to the immediate past Controller and Accountant General, Mr. Ralph Tuffuor for approving my application for sponsorship. Finally, I thank my wife, Anastasia, and my kids, Kofi and Nana Akua for allowing me enough space to study.

#### Acknowledgments

I am in the first place thankful to God for the steadfast love He has showed me throughout my life and through this doctoral journey. This study would not have been complete without the support and dedication of my committee members, Dr. Roger Mayer, Dr. Gergana Velkova, and Dr. Gregory Uche. I am grateful to you for the quality input that you made into this journey. Dr. Freda Turner comes up for special mention for her words of encouragement. Overall, I am grateful to the faculty that guided me in the course and lastly my appreciation goes to the entire Walden staff.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	5
Definition of Terms	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitation	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	
Significance of the Study	10
Contribution to Business Practice	11
Implications for Social Change	11
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	12
Agency Theory	
Additional Theory Development	

State-Owned Enterprises in Emerging Markets	
The Role of Ethical Management	
Methodology Considerations	
Transition and Summary	
Section 2: The Project	
Purpose Statement	
Role of the Researcher	
Participants	
Research Method and Design	40
Method	
Research Design	
Population and Sampling	46
Ethical Research	48
Data Collection	49
Instruments	
Data Collection Technique	
Data Organization Techniques	
Data Analysis Technique	53
Reliability and Validity	
Reliability	
Validity	
Transition and Summary	

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implication for Change	61
Overview of Study	61
Presentation of Findings	62
Description of Participating Companies	63
Theme 1: Board Influence on Management and Operations	65
Theme 2: Operational and Financial Controls	
Theme 3: Ethical Values	75
Theme 4: Quality Assurance	
Theme 5: Motivation	77
Applications to Professional Practice	79
Implications for Social Change	80
Recommendations for Action	81
Reflections	83
Summary and Study Conclusions	84
References	85
Appendix A: Letter of Cooperation	121
Appendix B: Consent Form	122
Appendix C: Interview Protocol	122
Appendix D: Interview Questions	126
Appendix E: Case Study Protocol	127

### List of Tables

Table 1. Interview Questions and Primary Themes.	62
Table 2. Participating Company Profiles	63

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Since colonial times beginning in the 1900s, state-owned enterprises (SOEs) in Ghana have been part of the Ghana national economy (Conteh & Ohemeng, 2009). The justification for establishing SOEs in Ghana changed over time due to market and economic conditions. The purpose of SOE development after Ghana's independence in 1957 was so that the government could gain control of the economy (Adams, 2011). SOEs remained competitive through the mid-1980s, but by 1985, their performance was so poor that the government decided to embark on divestiture (Adams, 2011). The government sold some SOEs to private owners to reduce the state involvement (Botlhale, 2012). The privatization policy had a broad goal to increase the international competitiveness of the enterprises through private management and equity (Adams, 2011; Etieyibo, 2013).

#### **Background of the Problem**

The establishment of SOEs is a strategic decision adopted by many developing countries (Tanlamai & Juta, 2011). According to Tanlamai and Juta (2011), the reasons for establishing SOEs include providing valuable fiscal resources and assisting in the growth of state and nonstate economic sectors. The SOEs are an important part of the public sector in Ghana, primarily because of the increase in employment opportunities for citizens (Tsamenyi, Onumah, & Tetteh-Kumah, 2010). Otoo, Osei-Boateng, and Asafu-Adjaye (2009) explained the limitation to this strategy. Due to restrictions placed on public employment by the International Monetary Fund in the late 1980s, the government

of Ghana had few options related to expanding markets and increasing services provided by SOEs (Otoo et al., 2009).

In addition to these external constraints, Adams (2011) identified overstaffing, excessive and ineffective bureaucracy, low technical expertise, and low commitment from staff and management as causes of SOE poor performance. Trivedi and Raval (2015) linked poor organizational performance to recruitment and human resource management. As a result of the poor performance of the SOEs, the Ghana government established the Divestiture Implementation Committee in 1987 to aid in the privatization and restructuring of the SOEs (Adams, 2011).

The government is moving the remaining SOEs into public–private partnerships (PPPs) including SOE manufacturing enterprises, which are under the supervision of the Ghana Ministry of Trade & Industry (Republic of Ghana Ministry of Trade & Industry, 2012). The PPP model is becoming increasingly popular as governments find it difficult to deliver public goods and services (Oluwasanmi & Ogidi, 2014). The basis of the PPP concept is the desire by government to share the burden of ownership with the private sector (Oluwasanmi & Ogidi, 2014).

#### **Problem Statement**

SOE failures continue to burden the government of Ghana, which have an equity position in the businesses (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012). The total dividend yield in SOEs and joint ventures dropped from 35% in 2009 to 7% in 2012 (Republic of Ghana Ministry of Finance, 2014). At the end of 2012, dividend yield from SOEs dropped to Ghana cedis (GHc) 1.73 million (\$0.87 USD million) compared with a total investment of GHc 25.73

million (\$12.86 USD million) (Republic of Ghana Ministry of Finance, 2014). The general business problem is that the inefficiencies in SOE operations decrease the value of the businesses. The specific business problem is that some SOE leaders are unaware of what operational and governance control strategies to use to improving competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multisite case study was to explore the operational and governance control strategies SOE leaders use for improving competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects. The research design was a multisite case study of four SOE special project companies. The population included participants from four special project companies situated in the northern, central, and southern Ghana. The results of the study may lead to a translation into a better management of the special projects and new initiatives. This study may contribute to social change by helping to reduce poverty within the local communities of Ghana, through the creation of competitive projects. The establishment of well-managed government ventures in the poor regions and districts in Ghana may positively affect social change by providing opportunities for the underserved.

#### Nature of the Study

The chosen method for this proposed study was qualitative research. The advantage of using a qualitative method is that participants express their individual views to the researcher during the investigation (Prowse & Camfield, 2013). The method also enables a researcher to seek clarification of any information given by the participant and allows the researcher to assess the truthfulness of the comments (Prowse & Camfield, 2013). The qualitative method contrasts with quantitative and mixed methods approaches. A researcher using a quantitative or mixed method approach collects and analyzes data from surveys or external sources (Corley, Gioia, & Hamilton, 2013). Data analysis, which is a required component of quantitative and mixed methods, was not the purpose of my study. Consequently, both methods were not suitable for case study research.

The design of this doctoral study was a multisite case study which allowed me to conduct an in-depth exploration and description of my chosen research area (Yin, 2014). The use of multiple sources of information helped me understand the contextual breadth and depth of my research question (Yin, 2014). A phenomenological design was not suitable for this study because phenomenology is about understanding the lived experiences of participants which was not the purpose of this study. A phenomenological approach allows a researcher the opportunity to gain an understanding of the lived experiences of participants related to a specific phenomenon (Pereira, 2012). I also decided against an ethnography design. Ethnography is about understanding the culture of a group of people (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). My study was not about the culture of a group of people.

#### **Research Question**

The overarching research question for this study was: what operational and governance control strategies can SOE leaders use to implement to improve the competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects?

#### **Interview Questions**

I used the following eight semistructured interview questions to facilitate an indepth discussion with participants.

- 1. Explain the role the board plays with the challenges that affect the organization's performance.
- 2. What role does the board play in the organization's operation?
- 3. What financial and operational controls exist in your company's day-to-day operations?
- 4. How does the board influence the cultural values of management and staff of your company?
- 5. Describe any operational risks your company faces.
- 6. What performance measures do management, board members, or regulators use to monitor operations?
- 7. How are appropriate candidates identified and recruited into your company?
- 8. What performance-related incentives exist to motivate employees in your company?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework underpinning this study was agency theory. The roots of agency theory date back to the early 20th century (Berle & Means, 1932). Jensen and Mackling (1976) provided the framework of agency theory used by researchers to explain the modern corporation governance structure. Fama (1980) added to researchers' understanding of the theory by describing and quantifying the cost associated with

monitoring the activity of managing agents. Researchers use agency theory to describe the relationship between principal owners and agent managers within an organization (Fagbohungbe, Bamikole, Akinbode, & Ayodeji, 2012).

Agency theory was the most suitable theoretical framework for this study because the theory brings into perspective how the SOE owners can initiate a governance structure to align the goals managers to the owners' objectives. By using agency theory, researchers can focus on the relationship between owners and managers (Morris & Roseman, 2015). This is a relationship where the agent manager carries out transactions with third parties on behalf of the principal owner (Kiprop, Okoth-Yogo, &Charagu, 2014). The agent manager conducts business on behalf of the principal in agency relationship (Kiprop et al., 2014). Principals delegate decision making to the agent and expect to receive information on the stewardship of the business (Kiprop et al., 2014). In line with the conceptual framework of agency theory as framed by Hsu, Backhouse, and Silva (2014), my open-ended questions contained agency theory concepts including risk management, operational controls, human resource management, and monitoring.

#### **Definition of Terms**

The key terms used in this study are defined as follows:

*Economic liberalization*. Economic liberalization refers to a situation where the government reduces restrictions and regulations in the economy to allow for greater participation of the private sector in the economy (Rahman, 2014).

*Private sector*. The private sector refers to economic concerns owned by individuals and not the government (Jain, Gupta, & Yadav, 2014).

*Privatization*. Privatization is an economic policy aimed at reducing the involvement of the state in the economy for increased private participation (Botlhale, 2012).

*Public–private partnership (PPP).* A PPP is a partnership or cooperation between the public and the private sector in joint ventures, which, come in various forms and thrives on the capability of the host government (Cheung, Chan, & Kajewski, 2012).

*Public sector*. The public sector is part of the economy, which is owned and controlled by the government (Luk & Ching, 2012).

*State-owned enterprises (SOEs).* State-owned enterprises are government owned companies established to perform commercial and social activities (Pratuckchai & Patanapongse, 2012).

*Special projects (Presidential special initiative).* The special project companies are initiatives developed by the government of Ghana aimed at increasing the foreign exchange earnings of the country through the transformation of production methods (Tonah, 2006).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitation

#### Assumptions

An assumption refers to an aspect of the research process accepted to be true (Arons & Krabbe, 2013). The importance of assumptions stems from the assurance that the reader place on the findings of the research (Jiang, 2014). Jiang explained assumptions in their research paper as tools used to analyze data produced results that are consistent with the literature. A general research assumption in my study was that information gained from the respondents was truthful and related to the research question. I also assumed that the answers provided by the participants would reveal appropriate strategies for SOEs to be competitive in the global marketplace. I conducted interviews in an objective manner with the presumption that participants would answer the questions truthfully and not exaggerate issues confronting SOEs. Also, there was the implicit assumption that information gathered would be sufficient for me to explain the principal-agent relationship in SOE special projects. While participants may be aware of findings from prior research, the final assumption was that individuals interviewed would provide fresh insights into the problems of SOEs and not just repeat what they had heard or read.

#### Limitations

Limitations to a research study are potential weaknesses that are difficult to control due to factors such as constraint of time, funding, choice of study, among others (Esmaeilzadeh, Sambasivan, & Nezakati, 2014). Limitations are a restriction on the applicability of research studies to general situations where a study that takes place in a developed environment cannot apply to a less developed environment (Esmaeilzadeh et al., 2014). A key limitation of this study was that comments generated by participants occurred at one point in time. As described by Heng-Li and Chien-Liang (2014) participant comments might not lead to generalized conclusions that are predictive of future behaviors or events. Responses might not always be relevant to the research question, and the selection of participants might not afford a complete set of data since it might preclude others who may be better sources of information (Hitch, Ravichandra, & Mishra 2014). Also, biases might surface in the comments of participants (Paldam, 2013). The quality of the study depends on the quality of the responses from participants.

Participants might give misleading responses by saying things out of convenience or because of a desire not to displease someone in authority. Thus, it was possible that participants would give inaccurate information. I chose participants carefully based on those who could contribute to the research; I might have overlooked some key individuals with important information. My expectation was that the views of participants would represent the collective views of all SOE leaders and managers. The researcher in qualitative studies determines the final quality of research results (Prowse & Camfield, 2013). To mitigate the risk of biased results, a researcher must maintain a neutral perspective when gathering and interpreting data.

An additional limitation of this research study was the cultural bias of the results. The interviewees were leaders and managers in Ghana. Thus, the results might not be relevant to other countries or cultures. An example of this limitation was contrasting the cultural differences between Chinese and Ghanaian management. Chinese SOE management centers on the absolute power of management and the expectation of compliance by staff members (Li & Madsen, 2011). This is in contrast to the cultural framework in Ghana. Ghanaian managers of SOEs do not have absolute power and must deal with issues such as government interference and the lack of respect by workers (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012).

#### Delimitations

Delimitations are boundaries of a study and therefore in the control of the researcher (Merriam, 2014). Delimitations offer an alignment of parameters to a study to make it properly defined in the context within which the researcher wants to conduct the research (Zanon, Filho, Jabbour, & Jabbour, 2013). Delimitations in research afford the researcher to note similarities and disparities in the subject of research to define the scope of the study (Akinloye, Illoh, & Olagoke (2012).

Delimitations allow the researcher to situate the scope of the application of research recommendations (Sutherland, Tabuchi, Moore, & Lewis, 2014). Delimitations also allow the researcher to identify parameters necessary for the planning and management of the study (Martínez-Graña, Goy, & Zazo, 2013). A delimitation of my doctoral study was that I confined the application of my research to special project operations of SOEs.

#### Significance of the Study

This study may add to the advocacy for the use of sound governance principles in the management of SOEs. As suggested by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway Commission, good governance is a top-down system and starts with a tone at the top that defines how the organization does business (COSO, 2013). Owners or shareholders of organizations depend on the managers of their organizations to manage the affairs of the organizations with care and diligence. The owners of businesses appoint boards to provide high-level oversight within the organization (Galbreath, 2012). The board is the agent of the owners and serves in the interest of their principals.

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

The results of this study might lead to the creation of value for the equity owners of these businesses. The results of the study might provide a basis for the transformational change in the management and operations of the special project companies, which are a major social intervention program established by the government. Moreover, the results of this doctoral study might provide ideas for change to managers of the new government initiatives such as the Central Regional Development Commission and Savanna Accelerated Development Authorities. A strong governance structure in government initiatives is necessary, as suggested by Brown and May (2012) who intimated that a strong connection exists among governance, leadership, performance, and outcomes.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The findings from this study might contribute to social change by initiating a discussion about how to increase the competitiveness of special projects. By increasing the competitiveness of these entities, communities may benefit through increased stable employment opportunities. Ghana stands to benefit because the special projects will not be a burden on the financial resources of the nation. Sound governance practices are important in influencing competition and engendering transparency in the business environment (Hardi & Boti, 2012). Sound corporate governance practices engender in institutions the desire to strive towards meeting best practices (Abiola & Ojo, 2012). A goal of this study was to show how the application of the governance principles in the

management of public institutions and other government initiatives in Ghana might improve the country's global competitiveness.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative multisite case study was to explore ways of improving the competitiveness of the special projects through an examination of the governance structure of SOEs. As described in the conceptual framework, this was not a study of economic variables, but about a top-down board directed governance structure as it had an impact on the control and ethical structure of the special projects. The overarching research question for this study was: what operational and governance control strategies do SOE leaders need to implement to improve the competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects?

The compilation of data for this study emanated primarily from ProQuest ABI/INFORM Complete, EBSCO, and Google research materials through the Walden University Library databases such as ABI/INFORM Global, Academic Search Complete/Premier, Business Source Complete/Premier, Emerald, ProQuest Central, ProQuest Health and Medical Complete, PubMed, Health Sciences: A SAGE Full-Text Collection, MEDLINE, Nursing & Allied Health Source, Sage Publications, and Science Direct. The searches through the databases yielded a comprehensive list of peer-reviewed articles and scholarly books. Search terms included *state-owned enterprises, governance, fraud, agency theory, stakeholder theory, management, ethics, audits Ghana, case study,* and *research methodology*. I also included government sites and other relevant sources to assist in evaluating and synthesizing the information in the literature review. My multisite case study includes 236 references. References with a publication date 2012 or later represent 86% of the total references. The total number of references in the literature review is 159, of these 141 or 89% are peer-reviewed. The overall percentage of peer-reviewed journals is 86%.

The review of academic and professional literature began with an examination of agency theory and the relevant elements of the theory as they apply to my research. After the review of the underlying theory, my next section is a review of two rival theories that provided a contrast to agency theory. Also, there was a presentation of a comprehensive review of SOE academic research and the various research designs that researchers used to examine this phenomenon. Many emerging economies use the SOE model to encourage economic development (Thomas, 2012). Included in the study was an academic research from SOEs of various countries. This review of academic literature provided a baseline for my research as it underscored the goal of this study to extend the understanding of SOEs.

#### **Agency Theory**

The research question for this study relates to how operational and governance controls could improve the competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects. Odainkey and Simpson (2012) suggested that a link was present between the performance of SOEs and how well the board resolved agency problems. An efficient means of resolving agency problems is through a well-established governance structure (Tidor, Gelmereanu, Baru, & Morar, 2012). Open-ended interview questions constituted the basis of my qualitative exploration of operational and governance controls. I developed openended interview questions that focus on how a board of directors frames the culture of the organization through various processes including risk management, operational controls, human resource management, and monitoring (Tidor et al., 2012). Given the focus on governance, agency theory was an appropriate framework for an exploration of the relationship between principal owners and managing agents (Berle & Means, 1932).

**Historic perspective.** Researchers developed agency theory from economic and behavioral to comprehend risk-sharing activities among separate self-interested groups (Tidor et al., 2012). Berle and Means (1932) incorporated the understanding of the separation of ownership and control as established by Smith (1776) in his seminal work. Modigliani and Miller (1958) supported the view of separation of ownership and control of an organization. Williamson (1988) held the view that an organization's governance structure prevents the self-interest of managers. Williamson supported the view that human agents are self-interest seekers. Governance increases assurance to shareholders that agents follow organizational goals.

Jensen and Mackling (1976) provided a framework used by researchers explaining and justifying the governance structure. The governance concept evolved out of the tension between stakeholders and the need to monitor and direct the activities of agents (Jensen & Mackling, 1976). The purpose of governance is to align the interest of the shareholders and managers (Neves, 2014). Creating a controlled environment is important because, without controls, the behavior of agents is opportunistic and self serving (Abels & Marteli, 2013). Abels and Marteli (2013) noted that the core motivation of agents is to focus on their self-interest without regard to the goals of the organization. The corporate governance structure minimizes the self-interest of agents (Michael, 2013). The harmonization of interests between the agent and the principal remain a key issue in corporate governance.

Aharoni (1982) suggested that the SOE structure that is dependent on government support is an "agent without a principal" (p. 69). Without the oversight of a principal, managers can make decisions with impunity (Aharoni, 1982; Ramamurti, 2000). The focus of the current government-sponsored reform is to include equity owners as principals with a vested interest in the success of the enterprise (Yonnedi, 2010). Included in this reform is the enhancement of the communication reward system (Yonnedi, 2010). According to Vroom (1964), employees and managers work harder if they know that their performance is recognized and rewarded. As SOE leaders focus on communication and compensation for performance, the effectiveness of agents increases (Yonnedi, 2010).

**Corporate governance.** Establishing proper governance has posed some challenges to the countries using the SOE model. According to Adele (2012), government leaders understand the importance of a control environment, effective boards, and transparency in operations. However, government ownership of companies is associated with implementation barriers (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012). In the estimation of Adele (2012), internal governance failures in SOEs were due to the failure of the government to supervise effectively the internal control structure. Some SOEs provide a high level of accountability, but these SOEs are in the minority (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012). Mixed results related to transparency and accountability are typical for SOEs. Governance issues are not unique to Ghana. For example, South Africa SOEs were compliant of external governance requirements but failed in internal governance practices (Thomas, 2012). There is a general perception that companies owned by the state do not practice sound corporate governance principles (Alipour, 2013).

The inability of the board to encourage managers to be efficient affects the performance of companies (Pham, 2011). Tsegba and Ezi-Herbert (2011) described the poor financial performance of SOEs as the justification to embark upon reforms to change the management and board structure. This awareness of change was not unique to Ghana. Vietnamese SOEs faced severe competition, and over half of the SOEs were operating at a loss (Nguyen & Crase, 2011). Based on the change in the competitive environment, the government sought ways to increase SOE efficiency and competitiveness (Nguyen & Crase, 2011). Before the reforms, managers lacked the incentive to implement business models such as marketing and financial management to improve the financial performance (Pham, 2011).

The Vietnamese government accomplished reform of SOEs through the removal of state subsidy and control and the granting of more autonomy for the SOEs to operate (Nguyen & Crase, 2011). Nguyen and Crase noted that the reform of Vietnamese SOEs took the form of changing the management structure. Similarly, Chinese SOEs operate within corporate groups with a central agency as the ultimate controlling principal (Lin & Milhaupt, 2013). SOEs are the dominant companies in the Chinese economy and have more than 500 SOEs attaining Fortune global companies' status (Lin & Milhaupt, 2013). The performance of the SOEs in China emanates from a governance structure (Lin & Milhaupt, 2013). Lin and Milhaupt intimated that the SOEs coordinated group activities and transmitted business policy to group members who were bound to carry out such policies.

Acting unilaterally, the government leads the governance structure of SOEs in China (Guo, Smallman, & Radford, 2013). SOEs in China are an extension of the government and management positions are rewards for moving through the political hierarchy (Helmich & Gilroy, 2012). Despite this environment, in limited circumstances, the Chinese government identified and developed independent boards of directors to oversee the management of SOEs (Guo et al., 2013).

**Board of directors**. The role of the board is critical in agency theory as the boards play a monitoring role in executive decisions (Puni, Osei, & Ofei, 2014). According to Gerard and Weber (2014), a strong board helps to align managers' goals with those of the organization. A culture of trust and confidence are important factors in ethical commitments (De Almeida, 2014). When board members understand their role in framing an ethical environment the level of trust between principals and agents increases and the opportunistic behavior of agents decreases (Cohern & Dienhart, 2013). While the presence of a board is critical to the establishment of a governance structure, Kamel and Elbanna (2012) noted that some SOE boards are only ceremonial with no authority or tools to control management. Boards are effective control structure as shareholders ensure that management decisions are in the interests of the shareholders.

The relationship between managers and the board is the underpinning of a principal-agent framework within organizations. The purpose of a board is to ensure the

existence of necessary guidelines to govern ethical behavior in the organization (Franck & Sundgren, 2012). To enhance this structure in Ghana SOEs, the Ghanaian government initiated a corporate restructuring program (CRP) to enhance the role of boards and increase their accountability (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012). When Ghana's minister of trade was inaugurating the board of one of the special project companies, he urged the board to implement the agreed upon strategic plans to improve the efficiency of the company to attract private capital (World of Garment-Textile-Fashion, 2013).

An effective means of communicating the activities of agents or managers to the principals is through an audited financial statement (Etieyibo, 2013; Peecher, Solomon, & Trotman, 2013). While an auditor does not opine on the competency or moral integrity of the company's management, an unqualified opinion gives stakeholders an objective opinion that the financial statement provides a fair presentation of actual activity during the period (Franck & Sundgren, 2012). At this time, special project companies do not produce audited financial reports. The audited financial statement allows for objective monitoring of enterprises (Chappell, 2014). The lack of audited financial information creates a governance risk for the board of directors of Ghana SOEs (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012).

The boards of directors, management, and other personnel have the responsibility to provide assurances over the achievement of goals (Cho & Huang, 2012). Achievement of goals depended on the adherence of the internal control of organizations (Cho & Huang, 2012). China created internal control standards for enterprises. Using these standards, SOEs in China developed the capability to make decisions regarding

operations, be responsible for the performance, and be able to expand and contract to compete internationally (Cho & Huang, 2012).

**Organizational culture**. Culture is a reflection of the relationship between principals and agents (Fidrmus & Jacob, 2012). The open-ended interview questions for my doctoral study included a specific question on how the board influenced the cultural values of management and staff. Embedded in agency theory is the responsibility of principals to frame the moral environment within the organization; one example of this is with an established code of conduct (De Almeida, 2014).

Organizational culture reflects the values held by decision makers (Rafiee & Sarabdeen, 2012). Densten and Sarro (2012) defined culture as representing the attitudes and values of people that influence others in a way that contributes to an effective organization. Culture confers on the organization social structures, in the form of controls and sanctions that have a bearing on behavior (Ohemeng, 2010).

Chappell (2014) suggested that the board could develop a cultural environment that encourages right behaviors. Unfortunately, not all organizations take advantage of this opportunity. Ali and Patnaik (2014) examined the complexities of organizational culture and found that not all business leaders understand how to manage organizational culture. The implication of these findings confirms that boards have a responsibility to manage culture with the goal of enhancing performance (Ali & Patnaik, 2014).

Schein (1984) described culture as a pattern of shared assumptions formed as a group learns through solving problems and adapting to the external environment. Wanto and Suryasaputra (2012) linked organizational culture and learning. To be a learning

organization, organizational leaders need to agree on values such as attitudes and practices that underscore an environment of continuous learning (Wanto & Suryasaputra, 2012). Leaders from organizations with strong learning cultures understand that mistakes happen and are learning opportunities (Wanto & Suryasaputra, 2012).

Kriemadis, Pelagidis, and Kartakoullis (2012) highlighted the importance of culture in organizations and explained that one of the pillars upon which an organization should stand to achieve success in international competition depends on the quality and culture of the organization. Culture plays a critical role in an organization's success or failure (Huhtala, Feldt, Hyvönen, & Mauno, 2013; Kriemadis et al., 2012). Huhtala et al. (2013) noted that the implementation of ethical values and practices helps employees to feel committed to the organization.

Huhtala et al. (2013) suggested that that ethical culture influences organizational behavior. Contributing to the understanding of organizational culture, Kuntz, Kuntz, Elenkov, and Nabirukhina (2013) stated that at the managerial level, individuals are often under pressure to overlook ethical dilemmas to pursue organization's interests. Without a strong ethical culture, the focus is not always about doing the right thing (Kuntz et al., 2013).

Many factors, including national culture and the life cycle state of the organization, affect how managers and stakeholders develop the organizational culture (Nuutinen & Lappalainen, 2012). If framed correctly, organizational culture positively affects transformational leadership (Tipu, Ryan, & Fantazy, 2012). Skerlavaj, Su, and Huang (2013) were interested in measuring the extent to which national culture

influenced organizational culture. Skerlavaj et al. examined the effect of national culture on organizational learning culture and concluded that the effect was not significant. While the cultural background of a person or group may be different, the effect of these cultural differences is minimal (George, Adediji, & Owoyemi, 2012).

Prati and Prati (2014) explained that a focus on hiring the right people positively impacts organizational culture. As explained by Prati and Prati, managers in key positions shape the behaviors and perceptions of employees. Khajeh, Mahallati, Shaibani, and Khodarami (2014) noted that human capital is a fundamental corporate asset that forms the basis of corporate culture. Stumpf, Doh, and Tymon (2010) surveyed employees from companies in India and identified best human resource management practices. According to Stumpf et al., companies should establish specific hiring criteria and provide training once the manager is on board. The authors also emphasized the need to normalize performance measures so that all managers must meet the same requirements (Stumpf et al., 2010).

#### **Additional Theory Development**

An agency relationship occurs when the principal hires the agent to carry out a particular service (Fayezi, O'Loughlin, & Zutshi, 2012). The modern business environment goes beyond the tenets of the agency theory to a movement towards the development of ethical responsibility in business profitability (Al Mamun, Yasser, & Rahman, 2013). Two theories that extend the understanding of the organization beyond a simple relationship between principal and agent include stakeholder and stewardship theory.

Researchers use stakeholder theory to examine and define the relationship between organizations and stakeholders (Bryant & Davis, 2012). Stakeholders of an organization include any group of individuals who can affect the achievement of organizational goals (Beringer, Jonas, & Kock, 2013). Stakeholder theory is about the organizational management and business ethics that deals with the value systems of the organization (Bryant & Davis, 2012). In an environment of increasing sociopolitical challenges, companies have come under increasing pressure to adopt a corporate strategy to address the concerns of various stakeholders (Peters & Golden, 2013). Stakeholder theory expands the agency theory concept of principals to include all legitimate groups that have a stake in the success of the organization (Hasnas, 2013). These stakeholders include any group or interested parties that influence the organization (Hasnas, 2013).

Proponents of stakeholder theory propose that there are other interested parties in the organization besides the principals (Abboubi & Cornet, 2012). Sen and Cowley (2013) held the view that the choices that management makes are a function of the influence of the various stakeholders' interests. Stakeholders have a direct impact on the ability of an organization to sustain a profit (Carlon & Downs 2014). Similar to agency theory, the stakeholder theory is an explanation of why an ethical environment is critical to the organization (Brown & Forstr, 2013).

While the stakeholder theory is an extension of the agency theory, the role of management as defined by stakeholder theory is different (Davis, Schoorman, & Donaldson, 1997). In contrast to the agency theory, researchers using stewardship theory define management and staff as collectivists, proorganizational and trustworthy rather

than individualistic, opportunistic, and self serving (Davis et al., 1997). Business success occurs because management adopted a framework of stewardship principles of management (Pirie & McCuddy, 2007). Abels and Martelli (2013) noted that researchers use stewardship theory to frame management as cooperative and supporters of organizational goals rather than self serving. Researchers use stewardship theory to underscore the view that the duty of executives is to maximize wealth for the organization as stewards' management benefits as the organization prosper (Al Mamun et al., 2013). Al Mamun et al. (2013) noted that principals do not have to forgo controls but rather build a trusting relationship with managers. Using the stewardship theory, researchers assume no difference in motivation factors between the principal and the agent (Eller, 2014). Even in the face of competing interests, the steward seeks cooperation rather than disagreement (Eller, 2014).

#### **State-Owned Enterprises in Emerging Markets**

The history of SOEs dates back to the 1960s and 1970s when the governments of Asia, Africa, and Latin America developed these enterprises to address economic and social needs (Jain et al., 2014). The mandate of SOEs includes social goals, such as job creation and providing basic services (Pratuckchai & Patanapongse, 2012). These organizations contribute to the socio-economic life in emerging markets (Thomas, 2012). As SOEs perform market-based activities, such as manufacturing, they assume a profitoriented structure (Pratuckchai & Patanapongse, 2012). SOEs also support infrastructure services in a community such as transportation, broadcasting, hospitals, schools, roads,

housing, and social intervention programs (Pratuckchai & Patanapongse, 2012). Thus, SOEs are critical to the economic activity in emerging market countries.

The creation of SOEs was meant to provide employment, meet social and political needs, and operate in the sectors of the economy that were of strategic importance to the state (Pratuckchai & Patanapongse, 2012). Thus, the motives for the creation of SOEs included social goals beyond financial profit (Pratuckchai & Patanapongse, 2012). SOEs in Ghana are primarily in the manufacturing industries, extractive- mining, quarrying, and utilities – industrial, domestic power, and water supply (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012). Ghana's SOEs contribute to approximately 30% of total industrial output in the country (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012). Unpredicted challenges such as globalization negatively impacted on the profitability of SOEs (Chen, Wang, Huang, & Spencer-Rodgers, 2012). To address these challenges, governments adopted two separate strategies including privatization and the development of structural reforms (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012).

**Privatization:** Privatization encompasses several strategies including (a) the sale of SOEs in whole or part to private owners, (b) issuing shares to individual or institutional investors and, (c) outsourcing services to a non-government private firm (Yonnedi, 2010). Privatization is a worldwide occurrence and buttresses the belief that market competition in the private sector tends to be more efficient and stimulates changes in the internal environment of companies (Vo & Nguyen, 2011). The Divestiture Implementation Committee reduced government holdings of SOEs in Ghana by selling underperforming SOEs to outside investors (Ghana Audit Service, 2012). The Ghanaian government's intention behind these sales was to reduce its holdings by transferring the financial and managerial burden of those SOEs to the private sector (Adams, 2011). Even with the privatization of SOEs, the government remains involved in the management of some those companies (Sam, 2013).

Privatization refers to both public-private enterprises as well as fully privatized SOEs (Botlhale, 2012). China placed SOEs under the control of state-owned holding companies to encourage private investments (Sam, 2013). Sam noted that the holding companies enable the state to effectively monitor the performance of partially privatized SOEs and ensure that the state gets fair returns. The transition of SOE ownership structure to private non-government equity owners in China was the result of the need to address the competitive nature in a market driven economic environment (Chen et al., 2012).

The Egyptian government responded to poor SOE performance with a strategy of privatization (Salama & Khalifa, 2014). By the year 1990, Egypt had a total of 260 enterprises generating a profit and 56 enterprises with deficits (Salama & Khalifa, 2014). This performance influenced the government of Egypt to embark on the privatization of the SOEs in 1991, an action that saw the privatized SOEs posting high initial returns only to underperform subsequently (Salama, & Khalifa, 2014). Privatization began in Nigeria in the 1980s as a government policy to boost the inflow of foreign investments (Etieyibo, 2013). The privatization of SOEs in Nigeria had a positive impact on services and service delivery in the country's economy (Etieyibo, 2013). However, only 10% of a total of 400 SOEs divested remained operational at the time of the study (Etieyibo, 2013).

Policy makers place high expectation on the outcome of privatization due to the profit-oriented focus of managers of the private sector (Alipour, 2013). These investors provide a level of expertise and experience that has the potential to increase the efficiency and profitability of the SOEs (Alipour, 2013). Private shareholders may be the workers within the SOE, which provides an added incentive to maintain the competitive advantage of the firm (Pham, 2011). The privatization of SOEs is positive with several successful transformations (Li & Madsen, 2011).

**SOEs reform.** The purpose of reform is to implement various governance structures to enhance accountability (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012). Key among the reform initiatives by the government of Ghana was the SOE Reform Programme (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012). These initiatives led to changes that included the reshuffling of management and signing performance contracts (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012). SOEs have also undergone a reformation in China where reforms have focused on personnel systems (Chi & Meng, 2013). Attention focused on identifying skilled executives and developing an appropriate compensation package to retain these executives (Chi & Meng, 2013). Within the framework of the oriental culture, the focus of reforms includes those employees who can improve SOE market competitiveness (Chi & Meng, 2013). Pham (2011) also suggested that SOE reform comes from an investment in human resources management practices.

The Vietnamese government decided in the 1980s to reform the economy adopting a market-driven economic policy (Pham, 2011). The economic renovation policy was vehicle upon which the changes occurred. The government uses a policy of equalization, which included a management model based (Pham, 2011). Pham noted that this model includes practices such as (a) human resource planning, (b) pay-forperformance, (c) training, (d) appraisals, and (e) recruitment.

The focus on human resources is typical of current reforms of SOEs (Pham, 2011). The Thai SOE model uses management control systems to improve the performance of SOEs (Pratuckchai, & Patanapongse, 2012). Thai SOEs use criteria and standards set by the Thailand state enterprises policy office (SEPO) for evaluation of their performance (Pratuckchai & Patanapongse, 2012). The SEPO upgraded its assessment criteria for SOEs for the SOEs management meet global standards (Pratuckchai & Patanapongse, 2012). SOE reforms involve restructuring the operations of some of the SOEs and privatizing of others.

### The Role of Ethical Management

A control mechanism of management established by the principals is a way to constrain the opportunistic behavior of managers (Sáenz González & García-Meca, 2014). However, excessive control of management may excessively constrain management (Sáenz González & García-Meca, 2014). A role of the board is to appoint officers that exhibit a high level of ethical values and then allow them to execute their duties with limited constraints (Chappell, 2014). This section provides a review of the role of management and how ethical standards form a barrier for opportunistic behavior.

**Management structure.** The role of managers is to provide control and oversight to the strategic and operational goals of the organization (Wang & Judge, 2012). The goal of managers is to pursue an agenda that builds and sustains the organization, which meets

the needs of their stakeholders (Hashim, 2013). To successfully control the affairs of organizations, Sammut-Bonnici and Paroutis (2013) suggested that management should focus on increasing the quality of the business process. Following an examination of the effect that the implementation of quality management practices had on performance and growth of small and medium enterprises (SMEs), Fenning (2012) designed a questionnaire and administered it to 200 firms within Accra, Ghana. Fenning (2012) found that a focus on quality has a positive impact on performance. In support of this position, Dincer and Dincer (2013) noted that management of small businesses needed to incorporate an overall understanding of the personal background of employees to manage effectively.

For organizations to remain competitive, managers need to monitor dispersed and sometimes disparate business processes to determine if they create value for the organization (Singh, 2012). Singh found that organizations create a competitive advantage through a focus on quality and efficiency. The design of the value chain rests with organizational leaders, who are to ensure that the internal and external processes improve efficiency and effectiveness (Singh, 2012). The effectiveness of the management of organizations depends on the effectiveness of the governance process (Serban, 2013).

Organizational governance remains a topical issue for researchers and practitioners, primarily because of past organizational failures, including some highprofile companies. Pirson and Turnbull (2011) noted that after the 2008 financial crisis there was a need to re-examine current governance structures with particular reference to organizations with unitary boards. Pirson and Turnbull (2011) rejected the existing governance structures in organizations and proposed a more humanistic structure that allows for conceiving alternative and network-oriented governance structures. With the continuous growth of hierarchical originations, the risk of failure increases from biases, errors, and missing data in communication and control systems (Pirson & Turnbull, 2011). Network governance encourages distribution through multiple boards, checks and balances, and active stakeholder engagement (Pirson & Turnbull, 2011). The risk of failure has increased the relevance of corporate governance as a strategic goal within organizations (Ahmed & Gabor, 2012).

In agreement with the awareness of governance created by corporate failure, Taufiqurrahman (2011) intimated that the importance of corporate governance has increased due to the occurrences of financial and business scandals. Corporate governance involves issues of transparency, accountability, responsibility, independence, and fairness by the board of directors, shareholders, and other stakeholders (Taufiqurrahman, 2011). Vogt, Maniam, and Leavell (2013) found that before the failure of Enron, corporate governance was self-imposed by management and shareholders of an organization. Vogt et al. explained that corporate governance failures, such as Enron, brought about the introduction of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX). According to Vogt et al., SOX mandated a specific governance environment including greater board independence, more stringent internal controls requirements, and restrictions in the provision of non-audit services by external auditors. Good corporate governance should exist in both the private sector and the SOEs (Taufiqurrahman, 2011). De Jonghe, Disli, and Schoors (2012) added that corporate governance had a direct relationship to the credit risk of an organization. Good corporate governance is significant for institutions involved in complex dealings and affects the risk and return of such institutions (De Jonghe et al., 2012).

Podrug (2011) noted that corporate governance includes the nature, purpose, integrity, and identity of the corporation. Podrug further stated that governance starts with the organization's strategic direction. Corporate governance, an agency theory-centric concept, encompasses the legal and risk framework of an organization (Dube, 2011). Oghojafor, George, and Owoyemi (2012) noted that corporate governance is an evolving concept that addresses the realities of business changes. The corporate governance concept has assumed multidimensional purposes (Oghojafor et al., 2012). Corporate governance involves nurturing professional and ethical behavior within the organization that aligns with business practices and public interest (Ursacescu & Cioc, 2012).

Globalization and international trade increases corporate risk and the necessity of a strong governance structure (Biobele, Igbo, & John, 2013). Ursacescu and Cioc (2012) noted that corporate governance is a benchmarking tool for improving performance through learning and appreciating from best practices how best to achieve them. Through corporate governance, organizations are to operate in a structure that allowed freedom within the remit of the law according to international transparency standards (Cretu, 2012). Having a strong corporate governance structure is a consideration of foreign investors (Miletkov, Poulsen, & Wintoki, 2014). Miletkov indicated that companies can use a strong governance structure as a mechanism for attracting foreign equity investors. A strong corporate governance provides a means for internal whistleblowers to come forward when they suspect fraud (Rachagan & Kuppusamy, 2013) or other governance issues (Deumes, Schelleman, Bauwhede, & Vanstraelen, 2012). Investors perceive a governance structure to prevent fraud as a valuable asset (Miletkov et al., 2014).

Fassin (2012) explained that corporate responsibility should focus on all stakeholders. However, even with a strong governance structure, there is no guarantee of success (Bannister, Newman, & Yan Peng, 2012). The prevalence of corporate fraud has redefined corporate governance in recent times (Luu, 2012). Investors depend on accurate information and disclosures to be able to make informed investment decisions (Luu, 2012). Furthermore, issues such as accountability, transparency, fairness, and responsible management of the organization affect investors and are relevant to investors. Investors depend on the board of directors to protect their interests. Investors expect that management would make the best decisions to maximize investors' wealth (Luu, 2012).

The failure of governance has resulted in challenges to the management of organizations (Podrug, 2011). Due to the recent global financial failures, a need exists for corporate boards of directors to be closely aware of the potential social harm that could occur from the value-creating activities of the firms they monitored (Weitzner & Peridis, 2011). Boards of directors should understand the value of the firms and anticipate potential harms that managers may overlook and position themselves in the value creation process (Weitzner & Peridis, 2011). Drymiotes (2011) observed that corporate failures resulted in increased regulations. A potential unintended consequence is that increasing oversight could result in more manipulation (Drymiotes, 2011). Shuhui and Seeger (2012) gave the example of the HIH Company in Australia. The company grew at

a rapid pace but did not have appropriate operational controls in place to handle the business expansion. These lack of controls lead to fraud, which was a precursor to business failure (Shuhui & Seeger). As a response to corporate failures, regulators introduced corporate governance guidelines, rules, and regulations to influence sound governance practices but that things have instead pointed the opposite way (Othman & Rahman, 2011). The series of corporate failures indicated the existence of a gap, which pointed to a lack of moral elements in governance practices. Othman and Rahman suggested that leaders should incorporate ethics in corporate governance practice.

Ethics. Not practicing ethics in communication affects the governance structure of an organization (Chepkemei, Biwott, Mwaura, & Watindi, 2012). Communication plays an important role in the efficiency and effectiveness of corporate governance. Chepkemei et al. conducted interviews of 30 participants and found that when lying was common in an organization there was also a general lack of mutual respect and common courtesies. This behavior carried over to the way managers treat employees. A conclusion of Chepkemei et al. was that honest communication is critical to an organization's success. Purnell and Freemen (2012) noted that ethical considerations should be less about casting judgment and more about creating processes for meaningful conversation in the organization.

Luk and Ching (2012) indicated that ethics has assumed a place of importance in public administration to counteract corruption, abuse of power, and fraud. However, corruption, abuse of power, and fraud continue to occur within government, with a corresponding loss of confidence. Luk and Ching proposed a three-pronged approach to resolving the integrity issue: ethical leadership, ethical training, and ethics legislation. Rama (2012) demonstrated the difficult task of establishing an ethical business framework in developing countries. In the author's consideration of the business environment in the Philippines, Rama found that local business leaders who wanted to observe ethical standards struggled to survive.

Contributing to our understanding of the value of ethics, Woods and Lamond (2011) examined Confucian ethics, mainly the Analects, to determine how they could help impact managerial behavior. Some Confucian virtues exist in Western management concepts, but virtues such as ritual proprietary and filial piety do not (Woods & Lamond, 2011). As suggested by Woods and Lamond, the Confucian moral philosophy is relevant for managers in Confucian-oriented and non-Confucian-oriented societies. Woods and Lamond recommended carrying out further research to explore the feasibility of using the Confucian practice to regulate the behavior of modern management.

A strong ethical framework forms the core of good governance (Othman & Rahman, 2014). Ethics, according to Sandbu (2012), involves the moral responsibility of corporate managers toward all stakeholders. Sandbu indicated that many people are of the view that shareholders have greater moral responsibility for the organizations they invest in than bondholders and creditors. This supports the idea that ethics and the organizational culture is a top-down concept (Chappell, 2014). Stout and Love (2013) suggested management have a responsibility to society. For organizations to portray evidence of good corporate governance, they should implement an ethical code of conduct and require employee compliance (Chan & Cheung, 2012). Jebrin and Ajlouni

(2012) examined the concept of business ethics and the approach to quality management and noted the need to link central business ethics to quality management.

## **Methodology Considerations**

The chosen method of this doctoral study was qualitative. The chosen design was a case study. A review of academic literature supported this design and aligned with other researchers who examined similar phenomena. In this section, I reviewed the methodology and design of selected articles from my literature review.

Gaan and Gaan (2014) conducted a research using a single case revelatory method to examine transformational leadership styles. Included in the data collection of Gaan and Gaan were interviews with administrators, employees, and suppliers. Stankovic (2013) used a model called the engineering approach to explore how behavior matches with a professional background. Stankovic (2013) employed this qualitative method as a way to observe a pattern around 100 manual operators in a Petrochemical industry and 200 operators in manufacturing industry. Othman and Rahman (2014) conducted a qualitative study of ethical behavior in the Malaysian business environment. In this study, Othman and Rahman (2014) interviewed experts and then representatives of companies in a twostage interview approach.

Tanlamai and Juta (2011) used a qualitative method when examining SOEs in Thailand, an environment where data collection is difficult. Tanlamain and Juta developed a multi-phase system to navigate around the data collection difficulty. In phase one, Tanlamia and Juta collected secondary data on SOE reports from SOE websites and also from State Enterprises Policy Office. This enabled the researchers to triangulate data from multiple sources to arrive at the SOE financial data. In phase two Tanlamai and Juta interviewed 25 SOE officers from internal audit and risk management divisions.

In the qualitative study of Adele (2012), the author interviewed 21 participants from five SOEs. Adele (2012) purposely identified these five SOEs because they formed a critical to the economic growth of South Africa. Adele collected data from such secondary as the 2010 annual reports of SOEs and print media reports about the selected companies. While most of the studies I examined in the literature review were qualitative, some used a quantitative approach. Odainkey and Simpson (2012) used a descriptive quantitative technique centered on 40 annual reports of Ghanaian SOEs. However, even with this approach, the authors were not looking for relationships but using quantitative data to explore a phenomenon with descriptive statistics.

### **Transition and Summary**

In Section 1 of this study, I justified the need for a qualitative exploratory case study to investigate how operational and governance controls can improve the competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects. By carefully selecting participants through a purposeful sampling technique, my intention was to gain an indepth understanding of how the participants experienced the operations of the company. My goal of conducting a case study was to experience what Santicola (2013) and Chitakunye (2012) described as an insider's point of view rather than as an outsider.

I included in this section a discussion of the background of SOEs and the justification for the existence of these enterprises. Included in this section were the specific business problem and purpose statement. The nature of the study section included a comparison and contrast of various research methods and designs. Also included in Section 1 were a discussion of the conceptual framework and a description of research assumptions, limitations, and delimitations. In the literature review, I provided a review, of existing literature that established the foundation of the study. The purpose of this study was to explore improved and competitive special projects companies by advocating the use of a sound corporate governance framework. Included in my research goals are to identify ways to increase transparency, controls, and efficiency of corporate governance.

The focus of Section 2 was my role as the researcher. I included a detailed analysis of the research method and design, defined the procedures used to collect and analyze data. In my discussion about the instrument substantiated the underpinnings of the construct and was beneficial as an explanation of how data measured. In the data organization and analysis subsections, discussions were made of techniques for arranging the data for analysis and providing a response to the research question. Section 3 is the concluding section of this study. In section 3 I presented the findings of the study, discussed the application of the study to professional practice, the implications of social change and action, identified opportunities for further research, and concluded on the study.

### Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this doctoral study was to gain an understanding of governance and operational issues that confront the management and technical staff of the special project companies. The scope of the study was similar in form to the case study conducted by Behery, Jaheen, and Parakandia (2014), who conducted their study by analyzing both secondary data and data collected from face-to-face interviews with participants. This section began with a restatement of the purpose statement, followed by the role of the researcher. Also included in this section is an outline of the research methodology and study design. I described in this section the (a) population, (b) data collection instrument, (c) data collection technique, (d) data organization techniques, and (e) reliability and validity of the study.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multisite case study was to explore the operational and governance control strategies SOE leaders use for improving competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects. The research design was a multisite case study of four SOE special project companies. The population included participants from four special project companies situated in the northern, central, and southern Ghana. The results of the study may lead to a translation into a better management of the special projects and new initiatives. This study may contribute to social change by helping to reduce poverty within the local communities of Ghana, through the creation of competitive projects. The establishment of well-managed government ventures in the poor regions and districts in Ghana may positively affect social change by providing opportunities for the underserved.

### **Role of the Researcher**

A qualitative case study approach offers the researcher an opportunity to have a face-to-face interviews, group discussions, and observations and appreciate the participants' experiences (Makono & Nyaruwata, 2014). The role of a researcher in a qualitative case study is to gather data through engaging the participants in a free flowing interactive manner (Delyser & Sui, 2014). My role was to contact the participants, collect data through face-to-face interviews, and uncover what the participant was communicating without subjecting the information to my interpretations. I had personal knowledge of the operations of the companies due to my previous role as the chief accountant of the Ministry of Trade and Industry, the supervising ministry of the companies.

To avoid any conflict, I did not interview anyone who reported to me in my previous role. The ethical framework included the values outlined in the Belmont Report. The Belmont Report ethical values include (a) respect, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice (Greaney et al., 2012). Each interview took approximately 30 minutes. Interview-based research is a type of research used by those who seek a rich and deep understanding of the issues (Delyser & Sui, 2014). The conversation was in a face-to-face mode with the use of open-ended interview questions as outlined in Section 1.

Seidman (2013) indicated that an interview protocol establishes a uniformed way to gather comparable data from all respondents. Wang, Xiang, and Fesenmaier (2014)

utilized an interview protocol throughout their exploration of the acceptance, usage, and influence of smartphones during travel. Similar to Wang et al. (2014), to maintain consistency between interviews, I followed an interview protocol (see Appendix C) to establish a uniformed method of gathering interview data.

#### **Participants**

The basis for the selection of participants was their professional background and operational relevance to the SOE. I used a strategy similar to Englander (2012), who looked for participants with experience in the researched topic. Shoup (2015) also selected participants based on their knowledge and experience concerning the area of research. The selected 16 participants were from special projects in four geographical locations. The criteria for participation included current workers of the special project companies with the title of either (a) technician, (b) manager, or (c) board member who were employed by the SOE for at least a year. Participants from each company participated in face-to-face interviews at the premises of their companies.

I sought permission from the Chief Director in the Ministry of Trade of the Republic of Ghana. The ministry has oversight responsibility for the special projects and the ministry's permission was important in the study. The step after receipt of permission from the ministry was to contact the chief administrators of the special projects via phone and face-to-face meetings to request their assistance.

McAreavey and Das (2013) highlighted that researchers must gain the approval of gatekeepers before interviewing participants. Likewise, Oppong (2013) emphasized the importance of gatekeepers to a successful research project. To obtain the commitment of

the ministry and the companies involved in the study for the data gathering process, I asked the Chief Director of the Ministry and the chief administrators of the participating companies to sign letters of cooperation (See Appendix A). In the consultation process, my goal was to explain the process and seek the input of the administrators on obtaining the contacts of the participants. The process was a consultative one where the intention was to gain the support of the administrators. These individuals helped to facilitate my meeting with the participants for the study.

I was able to make contact with all potential participants. After reviewing the consent form (See Appendix B) with each participant and obtaining a signature, we agreed on a date and the modalities for interviews. Included in my discussion of the consent form was an explanation of privacy and data retention policies. The instructions governing research at Walden University guided the steps adopted in the proposed doctoral study. The first step was to seek Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval for my research. Walters et al. (2012) provide guidance for me while conducting interviews and interpretive content approaches.

The purpose of in-depth, open-ended interviews was to obtain an understanding of the lived experiences of participants (Aloysius, 2013). All interviews were face-to-face and recorded. The selection of a suitable research strategy was the main consideration in the choice of the method and design for the study.

### **Research Method and Design**

This study included a qualitative research method approach with a case study design. A qualitative method enables a researcher to attribute effects to specific causes

(Pomering, 2013). The qualitative method of research enabled a researcher to gain an indepth understanding of research topic. The research topics in this doctoral study included the adequacy of controls and the ethical conduct of the management and staff of the companies. In this doctoral study, I explored the contribution of the various stakeholders, including managers and regulators, in the organization's operations to help gain an understanding of behavior and governance issues that have an impact on the success of the organization.

# Method

The qualitative method was the most suitable research method for this study. Elbeltagi, Kempen, and Garcia (2014) explained that the qualitative research method allows for an appreciation of the realities that confront people and an understanding of their daily lives. Elbeltagi et al. (2014) added that a qualitative method enables a researcher to understand the views of individuals applied to specific situations. By using a qualitative method, I had face-to-face encounters with participants to gain an in-depth understanding of their views.

Curzi and Rosana (2012) indicated that qualitative research methods must include objectivity and rigor in research. Rigor enables researchers to understand people and the cultural setting in the ways participants interpret and analyze the realities that confront participants (Avison & Malaurent, 2013). I chose the qualitative method because it allowed for an objective evaluation of research data. Neuman (2013) explained that the qualitative research method enables a rich description of real phenomena and at the same time brings about deeper thoughts on concepts. The nature of this doctoral study fits into a qualitative design method rather than the quantitative method. Through a qualitative approach, I gathered information from participants who had firsthand knowledge of the organizations that were the focus of my doctoral study.

A quantitative research method was not appropriate for my doctoral study. In a quantitative study, the researcher relies on data collected through surveys or secondary data (Curzi & Rosana, 2012). Avison and Malaurent (2013) suggested that a quantitative approach reduces the need for the researcher to obtain an understanding of individuals' experiences. While a quantitative researcher can determine relationships among variables, the results do not demonstrate causality (Arrawatia, Misra, & Dawar, 2015).

A mixed method approach was not suitable because, as explained by Onwuegbuzie (2012), the mixed method involves a data collection component. According to Onwuegbuzie, mixed-methods research brings probabilities into the data gathering process, which increases the use of inferences in the study. A mixed method study was not suitable for this doctoral study because I wanted to capture the details of the experiences of the participants as narrated by them. The quantitative method involves testing generalized ideas but does not include an understanding of individuals' experiences (Avison & Malaurent, 2013). Mixed-methods research involves a mix of both qualitative and quantitative methods. A drawback of the mixed method is that the researcher has to deal with gathering, analyzing, and presenting a variety of data (Muilerman, Schläpfer, & Tisselli, 2013).

My research goals extended beyond what I could discover through quantitative or mixed-methods analys. A qualitative method enables a researcher to get to know the participants at close range to capture their experiences vividly (Cody, 2012). The core of a qualitative study is collecting data using open-ended questions. This enables respondents to answer in a narrative form that also reflects their beliefs and values (Mikkelsen, 2013). Through this process of open-ended questions, I was able to address my research question.

## **Research Design**

This doctoral study was a qualitative multisite case study research design involving four special project companies. The case study design is suitable when a researcher wants to gain an in-depth understanding of a specific issue or problem (Alberghini, Cricelli, & Grimaldi, 2014). The purpose of a case study design is to understand a problem through detailed in-depth data collection involving information from multiple data sources (Azzi, Battini, Faccio, Persona, & Sgarbossa, 2014).

Through qualitative data analysis, a researcher can gain an understanding of the issues being examined (Akhavan & Pezeshkan, 2014). A multisite case study approach enabled me to gain an in-depth understanding of the performance of the companies studied from the perspective of the participants. While the choice for my doctoral study was a case study design, I also considered alternative designs. These designs included ethnography, grounded theory, and phenomenology (Avison & Malaurent, 2013).

Ethnography is a graphical and written representation as well as an interpretation of human behavior (Yanow, 2012). The use of the diverse cultural appreciations of the Ghanaian worker made it difficult for me to use this method. Ethnography is about the culture of people (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). My study was not about the culture of a group. Instead, it was about the understanding of a specific situation.

Grounded theory is about understanding theory and concepts with the goal of developing or expanding on a theory (Kahn, 2014). Khan explained that the grounded theory is a theory that is based on the basis of data gathered. The objective of this type of research design is the development of theory from data (Khan, 2014). In grounded theory the researcher begins in an area of study and lets the theory develop as the data emerges. It is a theory that offers a purposeful guide to action (Kahn, 2014).

Grounded theory deals in a systematic manner human interaction, the interrelationship between the action, the environment that affect the condition and the results that stem from the action (Wafler & Swierczek, 2014). It is about the reflections of people and what they consider as important (Wafler & Swierczek, 2014). Patterns emerge out of observations since they focus on the external context of the experiences of people (Wafler & Swierczek, 2014).

Lordly, MacLellan, Gingras, and Brady (2012) noted that a phenomenological study is about building and maintaining relationships. The phenomenological design is suitable when a researcher wants to explore the lived experiences and the perceptions of participants in a study. The phenomenological design allows a researcher the opportunity to consider rigorously lived experiences that give vivid indications into a specific phenomenon (Pereira, 2012). With the use of open-ended interview questions, the design allows for an iterative learning based on the experiences of the interviewees (Edwards, 2013). The phenomenological research design enables a researcher to obtain a deep understanding of the issues being examined (Schreurs, Martens, & Kok, 2012). The phenomenological study helps a researcher to appreciate the complexity of the issues through an understanding of the lived experiences of participants (Roter & Spangenburg, 2013; Sutten, Hocking, & Smythe). This study was about what operational and governance control strategies SOE leaders can use to implement to improve the competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects. Thus, a case study rather than the phenomenological design was suitable.

The rationale behind the use of the qualitative case study design was to gain an indepth understanding of my research question, whereas the other qualitative designs only give a broad understanding of the issues. By using a case study design a researcher gains in-depth answers to a research question bounded in a specific context (Quoquab, Norjaya Mohd, & Rozhan, 2014). By using a case study design, the researcher focuses on a specific research problem (Sroka, Cygler, & Gajdzik, 2014). Similar to Theriault's (2014) findings, my research extended beyond interviews to include observations of the operations and surroundings. Yin (2014) distinguishes between formal and casual observations. The casual indicators helped me gain additional insight "about the culture of the organization" (Yin, 2014, p. 114). Khlif and Pousset (2014) suggested that a researcher makes frequent visits to the research site to observe the surroundings and follow up with the interview participants. Adopting this strategy gave me a much broader perspective of the SOEs and their environment. Suter (2012) indicated that saturation in qualitative research is the stage at which gathering new data adds no additional value. Similarly, Mejia and Phelan (2014) described data saturation as the point where no new theoretical understanding is attainable. Frederick (2015) is an example of a study where the researcher continued interviews until the point of data saturation. In the process of gathering the data, I was aware that the collection of additional data would not yield any new information. Thus, I continued interviews until the point where I achieved saturation.

### **Population and Sampling**

The sampling technique for this study was purposive. Purposive sampling is based on what will give a researcher suitable results (Gordon, Nichter, & Henriksen, 2013; Sax et al., 2013). The four companies selected for the study had undergone numerous transitions regarding funding and management. The targeted population for this study included technicians, managers, and board members for the special project companies situated in northern, central, and southern Ghana. An appropriate sample size emerged with the achievement of data saturation of the thematic variables.

My final sample size of 16 participants was consistent with prior research. Shoup (2015) employed a purposive sampling of seven participants in her case study of patients' fulfilment strategies during an altering healthcare setting and continued interviews until data saturation occurred. Likewise, Thomas (2012) used a purposive sampling of two senior organizational IT leaders based on specified criteria that ensured data adequacy and attaining data satiety. According to Suter (2012), saturation is the point in the data collection process where no new information emerges. Participants included staff that had

in-depth knowledge of the business and thereby helped achieve data saturation of highquality collaborative answers. Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, and Fontenot (2013) suggested that all relevant themes emerge after about 6-10 interviews. After that point, the additional data were variations on already existing themes.

To reflect the expectations and experiences of participants, Lempp, Hofmann, Hatch, and Scott (2012) used a qualitative research approach. With similar goals, my selection of a qualitative method afforded me the opportunity to work with participants to enable me to capture the expectations, experiences, and difficulties of the participants. Lempp et al. conducted face-to-face and telephone interviews. The nature of my data gathering was through face-to-face interviews, which I undertook with 16 consenting participants. Lempp et al. obtained consent from the participants before they commenced the interview, which is the strategy I followed.

I separated the participants into two groups, the operational and management staff. The operational staff consisted of technicians, machine minders, and engineers who were not part of management. The second group consisted of managers and board members. The 16 participants included individuals drawn from each of the four special project companies situated in northern, central, and southern Ghana.

The criteria for the selection of participants depend on what researchers consider essential to the outcomes sought. In the study by Winkelhage and Diederich (2012), issues such as educational background, age, chronic illness, and gender were the considerations for selection of the participants. The criteria for selecting participants for my study included current workers of the special project companies with the title of either (a) technician, (b) manager, or (c) board member with at least one-year employment. The criteria gave me assurances that participants were familiar with their company's operation. The selected sites afforded me the opportunity to interact with the participants in the settings within which they worked. The interviews were all face-to-face, whereby I spent a considerable amount of time with participants explaining the questions and making sure that I captured the mood and experiences of the participants.

#### **Ethical Research**

At the start of the collection of data, the Walden University ethical protection guidelines were the standard that guided this study. Upon receipt of the IRB approval, I undertook the data gathering exercise having in mind the need to address all ethical concerns throughout the study. Ethical considerations in research are a highly significant part of research and become part of the entire process. At the commencement of a study, the researcher should apply ethical standard that frame the research activities (Frechtling & Boo, 2012). The introduction of the researcher is an essential ingredient of ethical considerations. I introduced myself to the participants and explained the purpose of the research study. Included in my introduction was background information of my research. Bhattacherjee (2012) indicated that the informed consent foundations of research ethics. Thus, I explained the consent form (See Appendix B) with each participant. Participants received a copy of the consent form for their record.

The preliminary introduction included answering any questions about the process. I explained selection process to participants. Any participant who wished to withdraw was at liberty to do so at any time. Interviews are a very engaging process; for this reason, some participants could suffer discomfort such as stress, fatigue, and become uncomfortable by participating in the process. While I made the participants aware of this risk, no participants requested to withdraw from the interview. All participants received a stipend of \$60 as an allowance for honoring the invitation and completing the process.

Confidentiality is an important ingredient in the ethical considerations of a research study. To emphasize confidentiality with participants I outlined key points including (a) their identity would not be disclosed, (b) all information obtained in the interview would be for research purposes only, (c) data would remain secure for five years, and (d) five years after the completion of the doctoral study I would destroy all data files. Participants could ask any questions concerning the process. The consent form included my phone number and e-mail address, as well as the phone numbers of a contact person at Walden University in case any participant wanted further clarification on any issue or wanted to talk to a Walden representative.

### **Data Collection**

The data collection section includes a description of the instruments and the application of techniques in organizing and examining the data. The techniques for data collection consist primarily of face-to-face interviews. I conducted the interviews with a review of company operational manuals including reports and observations made during my visits to company facilities.

## Instruments

The researcher is the principal data collection instrument in qualitative research studies (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). Similar to a strategy developed by Das and Chatterjee (2014), face-to-face interview of carefully selected key staff of target companies formed the basis of my data collection instrument for my study. This was a qualitative multisite case study, which involved a face-to-face interview with technical and managerial staff of the four special project companies. Secondary data is an integral part of data collection. Secondary data for my study included operational documents, financial statements, minutes, and other relevant materials (Abdulai & Shafiwu, 2014). An interview protocol (see Appendix C) was a guide to this interview throughout the process. The use of an interview protocol allows for a smooth process in the course of the interview (Abdulai & Shafiwu, 2014).

The use of an interview protocol facilitated flexibility in the interview process. I created a congenial atmosphere for the participants to expand on the interview questions and bring dimensions to discussions that the stated questions alone did not bring. Member checking is a means to validate findings by participants (Harwiki & Suryasputrs, 2014). Feedback from participants allows a researcher to validate the comments and data (Awad, 2014). To facilitate member checking, participants reviewed transcripts of their individual interviews to correct any misstatements of my research data.

Open-ended questions (Appendix D) formed the basis of the interview. The intent of the questions was to seek answers to the managerial, technical, and human resource issues. I read out the questions and gave an additional clarification that aided participants to answer questions to the best of their abilities. Upon some of the responses, I followed up with additional questions outside the scope of the prepared questions. The data gathering work began with a visit to each of the individual companies. The interview of the participants took place on the company premises. On-site interviews helped facilitate the gathering of additional material that helped me understand the business structure of the participating organizations.

I recorded the interviews, as allowed by the participant, and made notes during and after each interview with the permission of the participants. Recording interviews is a suitable method for collection of data in a qualitative study (Hou, Huang, Prakash, & Chaudhury, 2013). The use of diaries enabled writing that allowed the researcher to address matters of significance and enables the recording of views and feelings (Bedwell, McGowan, & Lavender, 2012). Diaries were also suitable to use alongside other instruments such as interviews because they helped capture data that a researcher might not obtain by interviews alone. Other data collection tools included the Dictaphone, word processing packages, or e-diaries, although these devices could fail (Bedwell et al., 2012). In qualitative research, instruments such as memos, minutes, and documentaries are all important.

### **Data Collection Technique**

I started the data collection process with a discussion of research objectives with officials of the supervising government institution, which is the Ministry of Trade and Industry of Ghana. During this initial meeting, I requested the assistance of the administrators of the companies in the research to help facilitate the interviews with participants. The use of facilitators helps researchers understand participants' behaviors and attitudes (Devaraj, Sharma, Fausto, Viernes, & Kharrazi, 2014).

I limited the data collection of face-to-face interviews to participants picked through a purposeful sample selection of key management and technical staff. To triangulate data collected through interviews I supplemented the data with a review of documents, financial reports, and memos. I did not conduct a pilot study as part of the overall research process. More than 20 participants formed the basis of a participant pool. From this pool, I conducted interviews until reaching a point of data saturation. Saturation is the point in the data collection process where no new information emerges (Suter, 2012). The number of interviews for this study was 16. According to Van den Berg, Grabe, Freyberger, and Hoffman (2011), such a process is appropriate to obtain the desired number of participants. The administrators helped gather relevant memos, financial reports, and operating procedures from the companies. Similar to what Yin (2014) recommended, I made casual observations of the surroundings to help me understand the cultural background of the participants.

The participants were workers or past workers of the companies who are technical, operational, administrative, or managerial staff. I administered the consent forms before the commencement of every interview and explained to the participant the rules of engagement. I emphasized that their opinions were valuable to the process and encouraged them to articulate their feelings about the issues.

## **Data Organization Techniques**

I stored data collected from this study in a password-protected laptop computer and implemented measures to safeguard against loss and unauthorized access to data. These safeguards include (a) recording the time and date for each data file, (b) creating hard and soft copies of data, (c) regularly updating anti-virus protection on all the computers in use, and (d) limiting access to the data with password-protected files. Modern trends in data storage techniques facilitate the storage of data remote and mobile devices (Williams, Ferdinand, & Croft, 2014).

Data organization is a critical component of data analysis (De Waal, Goedegebuure, & Tan Akaraborworn, 2014). To facilitate data organization, I organized the data in a matrix, coding data from each participant. The identification of participants in the study was with codes without revealing their real names. The matrix contained all the peer-reviewed journals, relevant information brochures, and information materials on the companies in the study.

To facilitate data storage audio and text files, I saved each file in a passwordprotected folder on an external hard drive and replicated unto two other computers. No one has access to the password except me. The devices involved in acquiring and storing the data are the audio recording device, three computers, and an external hard drive. This is similar to the use of electronic reminders and population management dashboards as used by Whitehead, Czarnogorski, Wright, Hayes, and Haskell (2014). The data for the study will remain in storage for five years. I will destroy all written and electronic data after the five-year period.

## Data Analysis Technique

The research question was: what operational and governance control strategies can SOE leaders use to implement to improve the competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects? The following semistructured interview questions will help to address the research question:

- 1. Explain the role the board plays with the challenges that affect the organization's performance.
- 2. What role does the board play in the organization's operation?
- 3. What financial and operational controls exist in your company's day-to-day operations?
- 4. How does the board influence the cultural values of management and staff of your company?
- 5. Describe any operational risks your company faces.
- 6. What performance measures do management, board members, or regulators use to monitor operations?
- 7. How are appropriate candidates identified and recruited into your company?
- 8. What performance-related incentives exist to motivate employees in your company?

A case study enables researchers to obtain firsthand information from participants through data collected from interviews and other sources (Hou et al., 2013). The processes involved in a case study include (a) data selection, (b) date clean-up, (c) data interpretation, and (d) evaluation of results from the data (Sousa & Figueiredo, 2014). Data analysis took place after gathering all data from the semistructured interviews of participants and additional information from operational manuals and other relevant documents from the companies. Swaratsingh (2015) used data from multiple sources to converge the evidence to a single goal. This technique, which Yin (2014) defined as methodological triangulation, helped me corroborate my findings. I reviewed and analyzed the recorded data to identify issues among the available data in a systematic manner. The data analyzed included the recorded interviews with participants, operating policies, memos, financial reports, and other relevant material. Swaratsingh (2015) indicated that researchers use interviews to obtain clarification on some things and alternate interpretations to challenge the conceptions and preconceptions of the participants.

After transcribing the audio recordings and supplementary data from the documents and observations, I used the notes made from the diaries to clarify information from the audio recordings. Through the NVivo 10.0 software, I coded, sorted and organized the data according to the themes. These themes helped me understand how the operations, and management of the companies, and what leadership mechanism affects the operations of companies.

#### **Reliability and Validity**

Guba and Lincoln (1994) proposed four criteria for judging the soundness of qualitative research. Included in the proposed criteria were (a) creditability, (b) transferability, (c) dependability, and (d) confirmability. Each of these elements is a part of the overall reliability and validity of a qualitative research study. Dependability is a part of the overall reliability. Creditability, transferability, and confirmability is a part of validity

## Reliability

Dependability is a construct that addresses the reliability and consistency of a study (Wood, Gilbreath, Rutherford, & O'Boyle, 2014). For data to be dependable, there is a need for reliable information (Anatan, 2014). I focused on dependability through the collection and interpretation of data. Dependability was a critical component of my study because technocrats, researchers, government officials, and policy makers may rely on the results of my doctoral study for further research or decision making. Dependability of responses from respondents to a study increases when respondents are comfortable with the data gathering process (Allen, Schetzsle, Mallin, Ellen, 2014). To test the consistency of the questions, I posed the questions to regional trade officers. These individuals were not participants in the interview but had knowledge of the operations of the companies.

It is necessary to engage sufficient participants in a study until the achievement of the desired result (Otieno, Kaseje, Ochieng, & Githae, 2012). It is also essential to ensure the reliability of the data. The process of gathering data included controls for validity and reliability by ensuring that the information provided was correct and by ensuring consistency of the information. Relying on background information of all potential participants provided by the chief administrator, I gained the confidence of the participants by engaging in friendly discussions with them and assuring them that no information will be attributable to them. To obtain true and honest responses from the participants, it was essential that they engaged in a friendly and frank manner so that they were encouraged to disclose all they knew about the issues.

## Validity

The question of creditability is about a study answered by letting the results reflect the reliability and intentionality of the outcome of the data gathered (Myrden & Kelloway, 2014). Creditability affords a high level of satisfaction in a study (Ngamvichaikit & Beise-Zee, 2014). Information creditability increases when processes leading to outcomes are predictable (Porth, Zhu, & Seng Tang, 2014).

Transferability relates to the application of results to similar situations (Foster & Urquhart, 2012). The restricted context of a case study usually makes transferability difficult (Grant, Juntunen, Juga, Juntunen, 2014). To create a uniform base for data comparison, consistent guidelines are critical when conducting research (Zhao, Xie, Hu, & Li, 2013). My interview protocol, as outlined in Appendix C, provided consistent guidelines as I conducted the interviews.

I ensured the confirmability of the interviews by triangulating the data with other sources of data including operating policies, financial reports, and memos (Yin, 2014; Parker, 2012). As suggested by Alex da, Näslund, and Jasmand (2012), using supporting documentation from alternative sources increased the integrity of my findings. Thus, I used supporting documents to help collaborate the information obtained from the interviews.

The validity of a study refers to the accuracy of the research data (Gill, Jones, & Zou, 2012). I considered the validity of data for the study from the internal as well as the external perspective. The validity of research is dependent some factors, including the size of the sample, the level of details required, the availability of resources, and the

burden the participant has to endure in the study (Gill et al., 2012). The study involved collecting data from multiple sources, such as memos, operating policies, financial reports, and interviews.

Validity includes both internal and external parameters (James, 2012). To maintain internal validity, it was necessary that the interview questions were comprehensive enough to touch on areas of the research interest. To gain a perspective of the participants' comments, a researcher should gather background information about the research topic. The additional information adds a context to the comments made by participants.

To ensure the internal validity of the data, I assessed financial results from the operations of the participating companies over prior three periods to determine if trends supported the data collected from participants. Lavender, Omoni, and Lee (2012) suggested that to minimize any potential threat to internal validity; the researcher should look for trends and any changes that might not be attributable to planned interventions. This means that extraneous issues that might affect the data gathering process should be anticipated. To enhance the validity of the data, I continued to interact with the key staff of the company, some of whom I know. I employed the method of member check by conducting the interviews and by going through the transcript with the respondents after the interviews. This was to make sure that the answers the respondents gave reflected their true opinion.

Based upon the criteria for participants outlined in this section, I anticipated that my sample met the criteria for data saturation. According to Goffin, Raja, Claes, Szwejczewski, and Martinez (2012) a researcher achieves saturation when additional interviews lead to no new information. Gupta and Hodges (2012) obtained data saturation after interviewing 26 participants. Data gathering for this study allowed similar fashion. Marshall et al. (2013) emphasized that data saturation is an essential component of meaningful, valid results.

#### **Transition and Summary**

In Section 2 of this study, I outlined the details on my research of the operations of the special project companies. Included in this section was a detailed explanation of my role of a researcher and research design. Section 2 included a justification for choosing the qualitative method and multisite case study design. As suggested by Akhavan and Pezeshkan (2014), a case study design enables a research to gain an indepth understanding of a research problem. The participants in my study totaled 16 managers and technicians from four separate organizations. All interviews were face-toface. The participants understood the Walden University ethical standards based on a preinterview briefing. Included in this briefing was the explanation that anyone could quit the research for any reason. As described by Yin (2014), I triangulated the interview with supporting organizational documents including operating policies, financial reports, and memos. Section 2 also includes a summary of the data gathering instruments including, audio recorder, diaries, and journals. The section concluded with a discussion of the reliability and validity of the study. In Section 3, which is the concluding section of this study, I (a) re-state the purpose statement and research question; (b) present, analyze, and

summarize my findings; (c) present conclusions from my research, and (d) provide recommendations for future research.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implication for Change

The purpose of this qualitative multisite case study was to explore the operational and governance control strategies SOE leaders use for improving competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects. A review of internal financial and operating documents supplemented data collected from 16 semistructured interviews with employees of the special project companies located in the northern, central, and southern Ghana. In Section 3, I (a) present findings of the study, (b) discuss the application of the study to professional practice, (c) discuss the implications of social change and action, (d) identify opportunities for further research, and (e) summarize the conclusions of the study.

#### **Overview of Study**

I conducted a multisite case study into the management of SOE special projects to explore the operational and governance control strategies SOE leaders use for improving competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects. I collected data through (a) document reviews, (b) casual observations, and (c) 16 semistructured interviews. Company documents, observations, and interviews provided for methodological triangulation. All interviews were face-to-face at the location chosen by each participant. I recorded the interviews and transcribed the recordings. I analyzed data using NVivo 10.0, and five themes emerged, including (a) board influence on management and operations, (b) operational and financial controls, (c) ethical values, (d) quality assurance, and (e) motivation.

# **Presentation of Findings**

The central research question used to guide the study was as follows: What

operational and governance control strategies can SOE leaders use to implement to

improve the competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects? I conducted 16

interviews with managers (n=11) and technicians (n=5). Three of the managers

interviewed also has board level responsibilities at their special project companies.

Included in Table 1 are interview questions and related themes.

Table 1

Interview	<b>Ouestions</b>	and Primary	Themes	(N=16)	)
111101 11011	20000000	<i>cirici</i> <u>i</u> <i>i i i i i i i i i i</i>	1 11011100	11, 10)	

Interview questions	Primary Theme
1. Explain the role the board plays with the challenges that affect	Governance
the organization's performance.	
2. What role does the board play in the organization's operation?	Governance
3. What financial and operational controls exist in your company's	Operations
day-to-day operations?	management
4. How does the board influence the cultural values of management and staff of your company?	Ethical values
5. Describe any operational risks your company faces.	Operations management
6. What performance measures do management, board members, or regulators use to monitor operations?	Quality assurance
7. How are appropriate candidates identified and recruited into your company?	Quality assurance
8. What performance-related incentives exist to motivate employees in your company?	Motivation

Agency theory served as the conceptual framework for this study. Through the framework of agency theory, researchers can describe the relationship between principal owners and agent managers within an organization (Fagbohungbe et al., 2012). My study was about the interaction between board members and management. During my research,

I interviewed managers, technicians, and board members. In line with the conceptual framework of agency theory as framed by Hsu et al. (2014), the open-ended interview question included agency theory concepts such as risk management, operational controls, human resource management, and monitoring.

# **Description of Participating Companies**

Participants from the four companies were either managers, technicians, or executive level board members. Participants worked for one of four companies. In Table 2, I present an industry profile of each company and the number and role of participants within the organization.

Table 2

	Company 1	Company 2	Company 3	Company 4
Industry Profile	Garment Mfg.	Textile Mfg.	Tomato processing	Cassava (starch) processing
# Total Employees	100	600	50	40
Participant profile # Managers & Board Executives # Technicians	3	3 2	2 1	3 2

Participating Company Profiles (N=16)

**Company 1.** Company 1 is a joint-venture garment manufacturer consisting of a Ghanaian fabric company and an American and Dutch company. The company is in southern Ghana. Company 1 has a four-member board consisting of company executives including the managing director, the general manager, the chief financial officer, and the production manager. The strategic private partners appointed the board members. Board

members actively participate in management roles. The company's international partner actively provides technical support. In addition to maintaining an internal audit department, management of the company uses the budget process as an operating control. The strategic focus of the company is on completing orders to sew clothes for both local and foreign clients. I interviewed three managers designated as MgtG1, MgtG2, and MgtG3. Two of these managers, MgtG1 and MgtG3, also served as board level executives.

**Company 2.** Company 2 is a textile company where workers transform raw cotton into yarn and grey baft. The company is in southern Ghana. Company 2 has a seven member government appointed board. The task of the board extends to management functions related to production efficiency. The company has an internal audit unit and a budget process, which serves as a strong internal control mechanism. I interviewed four management staff designated as MgtT1, MgtT2, MgtT3, and two technical staff designated as TechT1 and TechT2. One of these managers, MgtT1, also served as a board level executive.

**Company 3.** Company 3 is a cassava starch facility where workers transform cassava into starch. The starch company is in central Ghana. Company 3 has a nine member board that includes a traditional chief and eight other members. Both the government and strategic partner appointed the current board. The board is actively pursuing additional corporate partners. The company maintains an internal audit department. I interviewed three managers designated as MgtC1, MgtC2, and MgtC3 and two technicians designated as TechC1 and TechC2.

**Company 4.** Company 4 is a tomato processing company where workers transform fresh tomatoes into paste. The tomato company has a seven member, government-appointed board, and is in northern Ghana. The government is actively pursuing strategic partners; without a partner, the organization may struggle to continue. I interviewed two managers MgtM1 and MgtM2, and one technician designated as TechM1.

#### **Theme 1: Board Influence on Management and Operations**

Each organization I visited had established an independent board. While the scope of these boards extends to some management function, there was an overall understanding that their role was separate from that of the day-to-day operations. Establishing a strong governance structure has historically been a challenge for SOEs (Adele, 2012). While government owned companies have barriers related to the implementation of a board (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012), it was apparent that the organizations where I conducted interviews have taken steps to overcome these barriers. In line with this, two subthemes emerged from my research including board influence on management and board influence on operations.

**Board influence on management**. Business owners appoint boards to exercise oversight responsibility of the organization on behalf of the owners (Galbreath, 2012). The overall response from participants reflected an understanding of this relationship. With few exceptions, participants intimated that the board provides oversight and determine the company's direction. All board members I interviewed explicitly stated

65

that they take their responsibility seriously as related to managing the direction of the organization.

The control environment is a top-down approach (COSO, 2013). Patelli and Pedrini (2015) confirmed that senior management and board members must establish the control environment. Participants from both the board and management suggested that a top-down approach to governance applies to these SOEs. One participant explained the scope of responsibility of the board by stating, "the board is responsible for making strategic decisions as to the growth, the size, profit goals, and capital investments" (TechC2). Another participant who is a manager stated: "The board gives direction on the operations of the company" (MgtG1). MgtT1 and MgtT2 explained that the board give their consent for every critical management decisions. Participants also indicated that all managers submit regular reports to the board for their review. The boards regularly met and deliberated the management of the company. Participants confirmed the regularity of scheduled board meetings. This is an important factor and suggests that the SOEs are following best practices. Jizi, Salama, Dixon, and Stratling (2014) emphasized the importance of regular board meetings.

Participants MgtG3, MgtC1, MgtC2, MgtC3, TechC2, and MgtT2 all agreed that the board has financial and strategic oversight of the SOEs. Their responses follow the Enterprise risk management model where the board is responsible for establishing the strategic direction of the firm (Chappell, 2014). Decisions concerning the marketing of products emerged as a very important role played by the board. The board is also deeply involved in the companies' financial management. MgtC1 and MgtC2 noted that the chairman of the board, who was also the acting managing director of their company, had a background in finance and ensured strong adherence to sound financial management practices. "The impact of the board is felt through the acting chair who is experienced in financial management" (MgtC1). A participant, MgtC3, intimated that the board directly intervened in the management of the organization to provide the needed logistics for the operations.

MgtC3 explained how the board ensured that raw materials in regarding carting cassava meant for the company to the factory by stating: "Recently, we had some logistics challenges, which the board was able to help resolve." The board ensured that their directives were carried out by management by scrutinizing every agreement made with third parties. "They have to give their consent to every agreement that we implement" (MgtT2).

Not all participants expressed confidence that their board provides proper oversight. As explained by some participants, the Ministry of Trade directly managed the special project companies before subsequently appointing the boards. For this reason, some participants expressed that they could not feel the influence of the board. These participants believed that the board was yet to make an impact and so could not be emphatic about their performance. The board has not been in existence long, thus the concern of a minority of participants was that the ministry of trade continues to direct the SOEs. "There are a number of things they need to do to ensure that the company grows" (TechC1). As stated by TechM1, "I think we just had the board, and it has not had any significant impact because it just set up and interim management committee, so it is too early to talk about an impact, but we are on cause." A participant suggested that the regulatory functions of the company still resided with the Ministry of Trade: "The influence of the board in the view of the participant was remote" (MtgM1). The participant's view was similar to the assertion of Kamel and Elbanna (2012), who indicated many boards play a ceremonial role with limited influence on the direction of the organization. As stated by MgtM1, "the company is state funded and so is regulated by the supervising ministry." The participants who intimated they could not feel the board's presence had the impression that in spite of the inauguration of the board the ministry was still exercising its monitoring role as before.

**Board influence on operations.** The boards influence on operations emerged as a subtheme. Participant MgtC2 noted: "By the close of the day we report to the board chairman on the activity about production and finance issues. The board chairman, who doubles as the managing director, remains very involved in the day-to-day operation of the business" (MgtC2). TechC2 and MgtT1 gave responses similar to MgtC3. These participants noted that the board regularly received reports on operations and conducted their verifications on the reports. MgtG1, however, opined that the activities of the board related to operational issues were remote.

Monitoring is a critical role of the board (Puni, Osei, & Ofei, 2014) and is one of the pillars of the COSO model (COSO, 2013). Several participants commented that the board monitored operations and made decisions on business operations. "The board streamlines operations to ensure policies are appropriate" (MgtC1). A participant who has considerable experience with the company explained that the experienced board members provide technical directions (TechC2). Assigned board members are responsible for monitoring the day-to-day operations of the company (TechC2). The companies sometimes needed champions to seek logistic support for them "before the board came into being, we were not able to obtain a required software application, but when they came, they gave a go-ahead for an installation of a system which will improve our day to day operations" (MgtC1). The board demonstrated its effectiveness in seeking logistics support for the companies.

The board was active in the operations of their companies in the view of some participants (MgtG1; MgtM1). Others, however, held the view that the Ministry of Trade remained in charge of operations (MgtM1; MgtM2). Some participants surmised that they would feel the impact of the board on operations with time (TechM1; MgtM2; TechM1). Some participants held different views on board activities. One participant indicated that they were yet to feel their board's influence. TechM1 noted "our board has not been put in place for long so evaluating their performance will take some time."

Kamal and Elbanna (2012) explained that the board's impact on the management of the organization is sometimes remote. MgtG1 supported this view of the board's role. The board stays away from the day-to-day management of the company (MgtG1). Some participants were not ready to assess the role of the boards because they believed the board needed more time (TechM1). A participant thought the government, rather than the board, monitored operations: "Our operations are supervised by the Ministry, and this ministry regulates all activities, but now that there is a board I think that the supervision will eventual end" (MgtM2).

## **Theme 2: Operational and Financial Controls**

Operational and financial controls are key issues that impact the governance of the organization. Most of the comments related to controls over expenditures. In the garment company, orders include strict instructions as to how they are to be knitted. "When we receive orders, the orders are given to the production manager with instructions on what to do" (MgtG1). Management implemented physical controls in the warehouse to reduce theft. The organization implemented controls over supply purchases and product sales. "The chair monitors to make sure that purchases and sales of products are done well" (MgtC1). MgtC3 underscored the effectiveness of controls by highlighting that nothing happened without management approval.

The internal control structure emerged as a primary theme in this doctoral study. Three of the organizations where I conducted interviews maintain internal audit departments. An internal audit department is an example of the cost of monitoring (Ege, 2014). These organizations also used the annual budget as a critical element of their internal control structure. Klychova, Faskhutdinova, and Sadrieva (2014) identified the budget process as an effective control mechanism. Participants were clear about the importance of controls in their organizations. In the estimation of Abiola and Ojo (2012), any institution that practices sound internal controls engenders transparency in the business. An organization that practiced sound governance strived towards meeting best practices (Abiola & Ojo, 2012). Three subthemes emerged from this theme including (a) financial controls, (b) operational controls, and (c) operational challenges. **Financial controls**. Participants discussed financial controls from the perspective of cash and expense management. Several participants explained how management controls expenses and resource allocation. The participants discussed how a budget formed the overriding control over expenses. I reviewed budget reports as part of my document review. Managers plan in advance before appropriating resources to a project. Approval by an appropriate level of authority before the commitment of funds is critical to financial management as intimated by participants. The responses of this group strongly aligned with the views of Hashim (2013), who held the view that managers have a singular goal to build and sustain the organization.

As identified by a participant, "there are specific purchase order processes that must take place before we pay invoices" (MgtM1). Each appropriate level of management must conform to an established budget as the basis for approval (MgtM1). Another participant attributed the presence of financial controls to board influence. The comments by the participant confirm board influence: "Before we make any projected cash outflows, we document the expense and get board approval" (MgtC2). The approval process in the commitments of funds underscores controls in existence in the company.

While participants understood that controls are necessary, they expressed a level of frustration, "if you need any little thing you have to write a memo to justify the expense. Sometimes you need to go through this process even for small sums of money to meet petty expenses" (TechC1). "There are many controls and multiple sign-offs before we receive approval for any request" (TechC2).

**Operational controls.** Operational controls are critical to the survival of the company's operations. The participants explained the operational controls while taking me on the tour of each of the plants. Through casual observations during these tours, I was impressed with the production processes. At the garment company, for example, I saw how orders went from cuttings to knitting to finishing. The factory floor was a large hall with sewing machines neatly arranged long rows. The cassava and tomato processing factories had huge machines in place at the processing sites. The machines processes the raw materials into a paste poured into containers at the end of the processes. The textile company's processes were similar to that of the tomato and cassava processing companies according to my observation.

Participants from the garment company intimated that working to precision on orders was critical to their work. "When we receive orders, the order requisition is given to the production manager together with instructions on what to do" (MgtG1). The supporting documentation I reviewed confirmed the management controls over this process. As described by a participant: "The production team subsequently obtains what is necessary for the job and carries out the" (MgtG1). In the garment factory, the production lines were planned, and controls at the warehouse were essential (MgtG3; MgtG2). The participants from the food processing companies noted that purchases from suppliers had to meet criteria of price and freshness (MgtM1; MgtC1). A participant of the food processing companies explained that the quality of the produce they purchased was critical to their operations: "Raw material we use must arrive within 48 hours of harvesting, and we monitor the freshness of the produce" (MgtC3). This participant explained that not only must the supplies be of standard but also the output. "We have to meet certain standards. We monitor the moisture level and the amount of foreign content in our product" (MgtC3). The participant further explained that the board receives reports of input and output quality measure

Participants confirmed that the board establishes controls over the standards of work. As stated by a participant: "There are inspectors who make sure that they are cleared into the bunker for the improvement of the raw materials. We also have other technicians who test the quality of the products" (TechC2). Quality control is not performed by the companies alone but also by external bodies. The intermediate products, the finished products are all designed to meet international standards. Periodically standards board evaluates these specifications (MgtC2).

**Operational challenges.** Three challenges emerged from the interviews, including (a) supply chain risks, (b) lack of resources, and (c) aging equipment. Participants from the garment manufacturer cited the greatest risk related to delays in the supply chain. The consensus of many participants was the lack of resources. They also stated that machine parts were difficult to obtain because sources of supply are mostly from abroad. "We have financial challenges, lack of raw material, and aging equipment that remains unreliable" (MgtC3).

Participants outlined specific challenges related to the survival and eventual success of their organizations. Emerging unanticipated challenges create challenges for organizations as they attempt to achieve operational goals. Some of the participants had issues with port facilities whiles others with raw material supplies The garment and textile companies participants commented that they experienced delays on two fronts. They experienced delays from suppliers. The organizations have difficulties receiving goods from international suppliers (MgtG1). Participants also explained that they routinely encountered delays at ports when they are delivering their materials (MgtG1; MgtG2). The garment factory also faced accommodation problems. Increased orders for fabric also meant more pressure on factory space, which was not easily available. "We are constrained for office space, and we need more accommodation these are some of the challenges we are facing" (MgtG3).

Lack of resources also constituted a major challenge for the companies. The cassava producing company did not have problems with sales but resources to expand into other operational areas. The participants commented that with the resources needed, their companies would be profitable (MgtC1; MgtC2). MgtT2 was of the view that borrowing to fund operations was not attractive. The cost of borrowing is very high the interest rate is high, and so if you want to go to the capital market, you are scared because already the manufacturing cost is high and you may not be able to break even (MgtT2). The resource constraints also made it difficult for the companies to import the needed part for their machines or to replace their old machines with new ones (TechC2; MgtT1).

The challenges of globalization on the operations of companies, in the view of Biobele, Igbo, and John (2013), calls for a strong governance structure and an active board. Expressions of frustration by participants about the flooding of the Ghanaian market with competing goods from abroad underscores concerns about the competitive environment. This concern of some of the participants was expressed by Chen, Wang, Huang, and Spencer-Rodgers (2012), who noted that globalization posed challenges unforeseen for the profitability of SOEs. To avoid potential harm to the successes of companies, as highlighted by Weitzner and Peridis (2011), there is a need for the board to understand the potential harm that managers may overlook and take firm decisions.

# **Theme 3: Ethical Values**

Ethical value systems evolved as an emergent theme in the study. This theme aligns with ethical leadership. All participants affirmed the presence of a value system in the companies. Some participants noted that a code of conduct was in place and operational. "We have books that contain the code of conduct of workers, so everybody knows what he or she is to do any particular time" (TechC2). Other participants referred to the use of collective bargaining agreements that outlines the value systems. "We have management conditions of services that regulates our conduct as managers; our junior workers follow conditions of service, which guides their job behavior" (MgtT2). This comment is similar to expressions made by most participants.

The majority of the participants placed the ethical standards formulation of the companies to systems put in place by the government. For example, a participant indicated that the board directly influence the ethical environment of the organization (TechC1). Two participants directed my attention to the code of conduct as an example of ethical standards (MgtC3; TechC2). Participants from the textile company noted that the value systems is a part of the collective bargaining agreement between the owners of the company and staff (MgtT1; MgtT2; TechT2; MgtT3). Participants from the garment company intimated that the company had value systems that include specific *do's and* 

*don'ts* for the staff (MgtG1; MgtG2). A participant of the textile company noted that the board did a good job communicating a value system: "The company does what is right, so employees have the same expectation" (MgtG3). Participants from the tomato processing company noted similarities between civil service standards and current standards of behavior (TechM1; MgtM1).

Chappell (2014) related ethical values to the culture of the organization. Patelli and Pedrini (2015) emphasized that ethics emanated from strong ethical leadership. Embedded in agency theory is the responsibility of the principals to influence the moral environment within which the organization operates (Fama, 1980). The importance of ethics in the management of the organization is as stated by De Almeida (2014) who noted that the establishment of the moral environment lied with the principal of the business. An understanding of the role the board plays in the framing of the ethical environment by the board raises the levels of trust between the owners of the business and management as there is a reduction in the opportunistic behavior of management and staff (Cohern & Dienhar, 2013). Culture enables the organization put in place controls and sanctions that influence human behavior (Ohemeng, 2010). All the participants acknowledged the importance of values in the culture of the organization.

### **Theme 4: Quality Assurance**

Quality assurance emerged as a theme based upon my analysis. All participants intimated that they have systems in place to monitor quality. A participant emphasized the importance of quality: "There are line supervisors, quality supervisors, quality controllers in the company who ensure quality standards" (MgtG1). The board

participates in quality monitoring: "Quality monitoring is done by the board of directors" (MgtC3). Several other participants confirm the direct role the board has in quality control (MgtC1; MgtC3; TechT1; MgtT3; TechM1). Participants explained that adherence to garment design specifications were rigidly applied to satisfy customer expectations (MgtG1; MgtG2; MgtG3).

External agencies also monitor production activities. Supporting documentation confirms that these organizations receive inspections from government agencies. Some of these external government agencies include the food and drugs board, the environment protection agency and customs authorities. As explained by one participant: "The Environmental Protection Agency makes sure we stay within tolerable limits of production. The agency determines if we meet product standard specifications" (MgtT2). The participants mentioned the critical nature of external agencies in quality (MgtG1; TechC1; TechC2; MgtT1; MgtT2; TechT1; MgtM1).

Organizations focusing on quality and efficiency create a competitive advantage (Singh, 2012). Wang and Judge (2012) emphasized the important role management has in maintaining high quality standards (Wang & Judge, 2012). The quality assurance theme was echoed by Cho and Huang (2012) who maintained the view that the presence of controls in the organization's operations enabled it to achieve its goals. Adele (2012) maintained the view that SOEs failed due to control failures on the part of the owners. Brown and May (2012) argued that a link existed between governance, leadership, performance, and outcomes.

### Theme 5: Motivation

Motivation emerged as the final major theme. Participants indicated that there were programs the organizations could implement to increase motivation. However, the limited incentives used by management teams are not always successful. Participant MgtG1 noted that an end of year package had been placed. MgtG3 talked about free lunches given to workers as an incentive. TechT1and TechT2 noted that they received incentives such as lodge allowance and year-end bonuses. This is in contrast to participants MgtC1, and MgtC2, TechM1, MgtM1, MgtM2, who noted that there is no incentive scheme.

Participants did not all agree that incentives create the intended value. Some participants expressed concern that employees received incentives for reasons other than performance (MgtG1; MgtG3; TechC1; MgtC3; MgtT1; MgtT2; TechT1; TechT2). Other comments from participants indicated that, while incentives create value, companies do not have the resources to create effective programs (TechC1; MgtT1; MgtT3). Similar to this comment, some participants expressed frustration that management promised an incentive program but did not follow through on this promise (MgtC1; MgtC2; TechC2; MgtT1; MgtT3; TechM1; MgtM1; MgtM2).

Participants felt that motivation schemes in whatever form were good for the organization. Based on the agency theory framework, performance incentives help to align the activities of agents with the goals of the principals (Jensen & Mackling, 1976). A well-structured compensation package provides the proper motivation for managers to fulfill the goals of shareholders (Neves, 2014). Motivation plays a central role in the performance of staffs in any organization. Employees and managers perform better when

they are certain their efforts are appreciated (Vroom, 1964). Arguing along this line Yonnedi (2010) intimated that management and staff perform well when SOE owners adequately compensate them.

I asked a question related to performance-related incentives. Participant comments generally related to financial incentives. Participant responses focused primarily on financial incentives. However, I also received comments that suggested that motivation comes from more than just financial incentives but that management did not use non-financial motivation effectively.

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

Sound business practices are critical for the success of any organization (Florea, Cheung, & Herndon, 2013). My observations were that the participants have a strong understanding of sound business practices. The findings of this study reveal the importance of having a governance structure in an organization. Effective management of an organization holds a major key to an improved performance of an organization. I discovered that while the organizations generally followed best practices related to governance, internal controls and quality, management was not effective in their use of incentives.

The findings of this study may assist owners of SOEs to maintain strong internal controls over operations. Comments related to motivation may encourage business owners to explore alternative forms of motivation. The results of the study also confirm the critical role that a strong board plays in keeping the organization competitive in a global environment. This was a study of business practices in SOE special projects in

Ghana. However, the results of this study may encourage other businesses to develop and maintain a strong governance structure.

## **Implications for Social Change**

Successful SOEs may have an impact on the local communities within which they operate. SOEs manufacturing companies operate within the SMEs sector in Ghana, which involves a large number of people. To transform lives in the predominantly agricultural areas of Ghana such as the Central, Northern and some of the southern part of Ghana, The SOEs must remain profitable to promote agribusiness.

Successful operations of the SOEs may provide local farmers a ready avenue for their produce. Well-managed SOEs companies boost to economic development (Thomas, 2012). Efficient SOE management may attract private investors, which may result in additional capital. The results of this study may impact a positive social change by creating an awareness among owners of businesses about the need to fund SOEs and create a management culture based on sound governance principles. The success of these businesses may impact the employment situation in the areas the businesses are located.

Quality business practices in the small and medium businesses sector positively impact long-term growth and poverty reduction (Simpson, 2014). In like manner, Ghana stands to benefit a great deal in economic standards when SOEs are functional and competitive. Lack of proper monitoring, coupled with managerial and technical challenges and non-functional boards directly impact SOE performance (Simpson, 2014). Thus, the adoption of sound governance principles enhances business performance profitability (Odainkey & Simpson, 2012).

#### **Recommendations for Action**

While my observations confirm that board members and management take their responsibility related to corporate governance seriously, I identified areas for improvement. The first recommendation relates to board composition. The interaction of boards with the operation of SOE requires board members with management expertise in finance, operations, and management. The findings from this study indicated that the boards were very influential in the operational success of the SOEs. However, there appears to be a need for boards to include members with a high level of management expertise.

I also recommend that companies produce periodic audited financial statements. I observed the lack of an audited financial statement as an internal control issue. An audited financial statement is the primary safeguard shareholders have to ensure companies are fairly presenting the financial position of the company (Skinner & Srinivasan, 2012). Audited financial statements enable the board to apprise themselves of the organization's performance (Skinner & Srinivasan, 2012). Governance risk increases where there is no audited financial information (Odainky & Simpson, 2012). Audited financial statements are critical reports for monitoring (Chappell, 2014). The importance of a financial statement is clear and the lack of audited financial statements makes it difficult for owners of the business, and potential investors know how the business is performing. Audited financial statements give stakeholders and potential investors objective knowledge about the activities of the business (Etieyibo, 2013; Peecher et al., 2013).

The fourth recommendation is that the SOEs explore various incentive schemes to motivate staff. Participants in the study noted that management has used a variety of incentive programs, but those incentive packages had largely been limited. Some of the participants indicated incentive schemes existed, but not implemented due to lack of funds to finance the schemes. Pham (2011) attributed the poor financial performance of SOEs to lack of motivation of managers of SOEs. Thus, I recommend the SOEs allocated funds for incentive programs.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

Participants were clear on what the organizations can do to increase efficiency. However, business strategies were not a part of my research. Future studies could target marketing opportunities and strategies to increase profitability. The focus of this study was on governance and operational efficiencies of SOEs. Future research questions could focus on exploring details of the various marketing opportunities and business strategies.

The operational success of businesses depends on marketing opportunities that match operational competencies (Pham, 2011). Pham noted that lack of incentives to operate business models such as marketing and financial management affected the performances of businesses. This study was a revelation to me as I came face to face with the internal workings of the businesses involved. The study was a multisite case study with companies operating in the manufacturing industry. This focus of this study was on one aspect of operations (Chalkiti, 2012). Further research could focus on marketing opportunities that are available to each company and how they can be exploited to impact on the operations of the companies.

### Reflections

I am a firm believer in the continuous existence of SOEs and believe in the commentators who have espoused the idea of the PPP models. The PPP models combine private business management expertise with that of the state and share in the risks associated with the operations. I received great cooperation from the administrators of the companies involved in my desire to gain a deeper understanding of the operations of the SOE special project companies. All the officials at the ministry and the companies in the study were very helpful and gave me all the support I needed.

The participants were happy to share with me their thoughts and experiences. Some were blunt about their thoughts and did not restrain their sentiments. My interaction with participants was engaging and very satisfying. Participants understood my semistructured questions. I did not encounter any difficulties getting access to the participants and all interviews took place on the agreed dates. I took advantage of obtaining letters of cooperation to garner a great deal of excitement for this study from each participating company.

The participants demonstrated a wealth of knowledge of the businesses, and more than anticipated. After completing this study, my interest in small and medium companies has increased. There is a great potential for the SOEs and SMEs particularly the manufacturing companies. The internal measures include effective monitoring and control of operations, quality management, and injection of more resources. The external measures depend on the government to establish trade agreements with foreign economic blocs such the Economic Community of West African State.

#### **Summary and Study Conclusions**

Sound corporate governance is the underpinning measure of value creation for SOEs. The participants in this study expressed their views on the issues and gave indications as to the way forward for their companies. In this study, I explored governance, operations management, ethical values, quality assurance, and motivation. The participants underscored the relevance and influence of the board. Participants described boards as being active in the strategic planning. For example, the garment company board guided the marketing plan and participated in identifying key customers. In some instances, participants described the board as a channel to government officials. Boards were involved in solving logistical challenges that confronted the organization. The overall views of the participants were contrary to the views of Kamel and Elbanna (2012) who intimated that some SOE boards lack the authority tools to control management.

This study was not about economic variables, but rather an exploration of how a top-down board directed governance structure impacts the control and ethical structure of the special projects. Agency theory formed the conceptual framework for this study. I collected data from interviews, casual observations, and supporting documents. Five main themes emerged including (a) board influence on management and operations, (b) operational and financial controls, (c) ethical values, (d) quality assurance, and (e) motivation. The implications for positive social change include helping to reduce poverty within the local communities of Ghana, through the creation of competitive projects that can sustain a productive workforce.

#### References

- Abboubi, M. E., & Cornet, A. (2012). Towards a dynamic stakeholder management framework for CSR certifications. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3, 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/
- Abdulai, I. E., & Shafiwu, A. B. (2014). Participatory decision making and employee productivity. A case study of community banks in the Upper East region of Ghana. *Business and Economics Journal*, *5*, 1-10. doi:10.4172/2151-6219.100099
- Abels, P. B., & Martelli, J. T. (2013). CEO duality: How many hats are too many? *Corporate Governance, 13*, 135-147. doi:10.1108/14720701311316625
- Abiola, J. O., & Ojo, S. O. (2012). Compliance with regulatory financial reporting and corporate governance practices in selected primary mortgage institutions in Nigeria. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 246-254. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com
- Adams, S. (2011). Privatization and national development: A case study of Ghana. *Public Organization Review*, *11*, 237-253. doi:10.1007/s11115-010-0119-2
- Adele, T. (2012). Governance at South African state-owned enterprises: What do annual reports and the print media tell us? *Social Responsibility Journal*, *8*, 448-470. doi:10.1108/17471111211272057
- Aharoni, Y. (1982). State owned enterprises: An agent without a principal. In L.P. Jones
  (Ed.). *Public enterprise in less developed countries* (pp. 67-76). Cambridge, MA:
  Cambridge University Press

- Ahmed, H., & Gábor, A. (2012). An examination of the relationship of governance structure and performance: Evidence from banking companies in Bangladesh. *Society and Economy*, 34, 643-666. doi:10.1556/SocEc.2011.0003
- Akhavan, P., & Pezeshkan, A. (2014). Knowledge management critical failure factors: A multi-case study. *VINE*, 44(1), 22-41. doi:10.1108/VINE-08-2012-0034
- Akin loye, A. J., Illoh, H. C., Olagoke, O. A. (2012). Significance of wood anatomical features to the taxonomy of five cola species. *Sustainable Agriculture Research*, 1, 21-26. doi:10.5539/sar.v1n2p21
- Alberghini, E., Cricelli, L., & Grimaldi, M. (2014). A methodology to manage and monitor social media inside a company: A case study. *Journal of Knowledge Management, 18*, 255-277. doi:10.1108/JKM-10-2013-0392
- Alex da, M. P., Näslund, D., & Jasmand, C. (2012). Logistics case study based research: Towards higher quality. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 42, 275-295. doi:10.1108/09600031211225963
- Ali, A., & Patnaik, B. (2014). Organizational culture: A study on managers of private and public undertakings. *International Journal of Management Research and Reviews*, 4, 861-871. Retrieved from http://ijmrr.com/

Alipour, M. (2013). An investigation of the association between ownership structure and corporate performance. *Management Research Review*, 36, 1137-1166. doi:10.1108/MRR-08-2012-0188

- Allen C., Schetzsle, S., Mallin, M. L., & Ellen, B. P. (2014). Intergenerational recruiting: The impact of sales job candidate perception of interviewer age. *American Journal of Business, 29*, 146-163. doi:10.1108/AJB-03-2013-0018
- Al Mamun, A., Yasser, Q. R., & Rahman, M. A. (2013). A discussion of the suitability of only one versus more than one theory for depicting corporate governance. *Modern Economy*, 4(1), 37-48. Retrieved from http://www.scrip.org/journal/me/
- Aloysius, O. I. (2013). Perception of empowerment among international students at the university Putra Malaysia. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 93-101. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n23p93
- Anatan, L. (2014). Factors influencing supply chain competitive advantage and performance. *International Journal of Business and Information*, 9, 311-334.
   Retrieved from http://ijbi.org
- Arons, A. M. M., & Krabbe, P. F. M. (2013). Probabilitistic choice models in healthystate valuation research: Background, theories, assumption and applications. *Expert Review of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research*, 13(1), 93-108. doi:10.1586/erp.12.85
- Arrawatia, R., Misra, A., & Dawar, V. (2015). Bank competition and efficiency: Empirical evidence from Indian market. *International Journal of Law and Management*, 57, 217-231. doi:10.1108/ijlma-03-2014-0029
- Avison, D., & Malaurent, J. (2013). Qualitative research in three IS journals: Unequal emphasis but common rigor, depth and richness. *Systèmes d'Information Et Management, 18*, 75-122 doi:10.3917/sim.134.0075

Awad, G. (2014). Motivation, persistence, and crosscultural awareness: A study of college students earning foreign languages. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal, 18*, 97-116. Retrieved from

http://www.alliedacademies.org/public/journals/journaldetails.aspx?jid=5

- Azzi, A., Battini, D., Faccio, M., Persona, A., & Sgaarbossa, F. (2014). Inventory holding costs measurement: A multi-case study. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 25(1), 109-132. doi:10.1108/IJLM-01-2012-0004
- Bannister, W. J., Newman, A. H., & Yang Peng, E. (2012). Influence of TARP regulations on executive compensation plans and corporate governance of 'exceptional assistance' recipients. *International Journal of Disclosure and Governance*, 9, 285-300. doi:10.107/jdg.2011.20.
- Bedwell, C., McGowan, L., & Lavender, T. (2012). Using diaries to explore midwives' experiences in intrapartum care: An evaluation of the method in a phenomenological study. *Midwifery*, 28, 150-155. doi:10.1016/j.mi
- Behery, M., Jabeen, F., & Parakandi, M. (2014). Adopting a contemporary performance management system. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 63(1), 22-43. doi:10.1108/ijppm-07-2012-0076
- Beringer, C., Jonas, D., & Kock, A. (2013). Behavior of internal stakeholders in project portfolio management and its impact on success. *International Journal of Project* Management, *31*, 830-846. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2012.11.006
- Berle, A, A., & Means, G. (1932). *The modern corporation and private property* (revised ed). (1967). New York, NY: Harcourt, Brace, & World.

- Biobele, B. S., Igbo, I. E., & John, E. F. (2013). The significance of international corporate governance disclosure on financial reporting in Nigeria. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 100-106. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n8p100
- Botlhale, E. (2012). Privatization in Botswana: A case of firsts not happening first? *Research in Applied Economics*, 4, 1-15. Retrieved from http://www.macrothink.org/journal/index.php/rae/index
- Brown, J. A., & Forstr, R. (2013). CSR and stakeholder theory: A tale of Adam Smith. Journal of Business Ethics, 112, 301-312. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1251-4
- Brown, W., & May, D. (2012). Organizational change and development: The efficacy of transformational leadership training. *Journal of Management Development*, *31*, 520-536. doi:10.1108/02621711211230830
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). *Social sciences research: Principles, methods and practices* (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Create Space Independent Publishing Platform.
- Bryant, P., & Davis, C. (2012). Regulated change effects on boards of directors: A look at agency theory and resource dependency theory *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 11, 1-15. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/public/journals/journaldetails.aspx?jid=13
- Carlon, D. M., & Downs, A. (2014). Stakeholder valuing: A process for identifying the interrelationships between firm and stakeholder attributes. *Administrative Sciences, 4*, 137-154. doi:10.3390/admsci4020137

- Chalkiti, K. (2012). Knowledge sharing in dynamic labor environments: Insights from Australia. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 24*, 522-541. doi:10.1108/09596111211226806
- Chan, A. W. H., & Cheung, H. Y. (2012). Cultural dimensions, ethical sensitivity, and corporate governance. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *110*, 45-59. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1146-9
- Chappell, C. (2014). *The executive guide to enterprise risk management*. London, England: Palgrave MacMillan.
- Chen, J., Wang, L., Huang, M., & Spencer-Rodgers, J. (2012). Naïve dialectism and Chinese employees' commitment to change. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 27(1), 48-70. doi:10.1108/02683941211193857
- Chepkemei, A., Biwott, C., Mwaura, J., & Watindi, A. R. (2012). The role of integrity and communication ethics in corporate governance: A study of selected companies in Uasin Gishu County, Kenya. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Economics & Management Science, 3*, 233-237. doi:10.1007/s1051-011-1195-0
- Cheung, E., Chan, A. P. C., & Kajewski, S. (2012). Factors contributing to successful public private partnership projects: Comparing Hong Kong with Australia and the United Kingdom. *Journal of Facilities Management*, *10*, 45-58. doi:10.1108/14725961211200397
- Chi, W., & Meng, Y. (2013). State-owned enterprise grass-roots staff mobility research-Shanghai automotive industry corporation, for example. *International Journal of Business and Social Science, 4*, 161-167. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com

- Chitakunye, P. (2012). Recovering children's voices in consumer research. *Qualitative Market Research, 15*, 206-224. doi:10.1108/13522751211215903
- Cho, D. S., & Huang, F. (2012). A study on corporate governance of China's state-owned enterprises-focus on the role of Baosteel CCP organization. *Journal of International Business Research*, 11, 45-59. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/Public/Journals/JournalDetails.aspx?jid=15
- Cody, K. (2012). Between two worlds: Critically exploring marketing segmentation and liminal consumers. *Young Consumers*, 13. 284-302. doi:10.1108/17473611211264068
- Cohern, M. A., & Dienhart, J. (2013). Moral and amoral conceptions of trust, with an application in organizational ethics. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *112*, 1-13. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1218-5
- Committee of Sponsoring Organizations. (2013). *Internal control Integrated framework*. Durham, NC: American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
- Conteh, C., & Ohemeng, F. L. K. (2009). The politics of decision making in developing countries: A comparative analysis of privatization decisions in Botswana and Ghana. *Public Management Review*, 11(1) 57-77. doi:10.1080/14719030802493429
- Corley, K., Gioia, D., & Hamilton, A. (2013). Seeking qualitative rigor in inductive research: Notes on the Gioia methodology. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16, 15-31. doi:10.1177/1094428112452151

- Cretu, R. F. (2012). Corporate governance and corporate diversification strategies. *Revista De Management Comparat International, 13*, 621-633. Retrieved from http://www.rmci.ase.ro/
- Curzi, Y., & Rosana, S. R. (2012). Bridging rigor and relevance. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 20, 82-94. doi:10.1108/19348831211215678
- Das, J. K., & Chatterjee, M. (2014). Job anxiety, personality and coping behavior: A study on women in service sector. *International Journal of Information, Business* and Management, 6, 228-255. Retrieved from http://ijibm.site666.com
- Davis, H. H., Schoorman, D. F., & Donaldson, L. (1997). Toward a stewardship theory of management. *Academy of Management*, 22(1), 20-47.
  doi:10.5465/AMR.1997.9707180258
- De Almeida, B. J. M. (2014). Ethics of business organizations: The basis for their sustainability. *Journal of Management and Sustainability, 4*, 46-69. Retrieved from http://www.ccsenet.org/jms/
- De Jonghe, O., Disli, M., & Schoors, K. (2012). Corporate governance, opaque bank activities, and Risk/Return efficiency: Pre- and post-crisis evidence from Turkey. *Journal of Financial Services Research*, *41*(1-2), 51-80. doi:10.1007/s10693-011-0115-x
- DeLyser, D., & Sui, D. (2014). Crossing the qualitative-quantitative chasm III: Enduring methods, open geography, participatory research, and the fourth paradigm.
   *Progress in Human Geography, 38*, 294-307. doi:10.1177/0309132513479291

- Densten, I. L., & Sarro, J. C. (2012). The impact of organizational culture and social desirability on Australian CEO leadership. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 33, 342-368. doi:10.1108/01437731211229296
- Deumes, R., Schelleman, C., Bauwhede, H. V., & Vanstraelen, A. (2012). Audit firm governance: Do transparency reports reveal audit quality? *Auditing*, *31*, 193-214. Retrieved from http://aaahq.org/audit/ajpt.htm
- Devaraj, S., Sharma, S. K., Fausto, D. J., Viernes, S., & Kharrazi, H. (2014). Barriers and facilitators to clinical decision support systems adoption: A systematic review.
   *Journal of Business Administration Research*, *3*, 36-53. doi:10.5430/jbar.v3n2p36
- De Waal, A. A., Goedegebuure, R., Tan Akaraborworn, C. (2014). Adapting the high performance organization framework to the Thai context. *Measuring Business Excellence*, *18*, 28-38. doi:10.1108/mbe-08-2013-0043
- Dincer, B., & Dincer, C. (2013). Corporate social responsibility decisions: A dilemma for SME executives? *Social Responsibility Journal*, 9, 177-187. doi:10.1108/SRJ-07-2011-0028
- Drymiotes, G. C. (2011). Information precision and manipulation incentives. *Journal of Management Research, 23*, 231-258. doi:10.2308/jmar-10067
- Dube, I. (2011). Is corporate governance the answer to corporate structural failure? US-China Law Review, 8, 413-430. doi:10.2139/ssm.1767901
- Edwards, M. (2013). Stories from experience: Using the phenomenological psychological method to understand the needs of victims of the Fukushima nuclear accident.

Asian Perspective, 37, 615-634. Retrieved from

http://www.uhpres.hawaii.edu/journals/aps

- Ege, M. S. (2014). Does internal audit function quality deter management misconduct? *The Accounting Review, 90*, 495-527. doi:10.2308/accr-50871
- Elbeltagi, I., Kempen, T., Garcia, E. (2014). Pareto-principle application in non-IT supported CRM processes. *Business Process Management Journal*, 20(1), 129-150. doi:10.1108/BPMJ-05-2012-0043
- Eller, H. (2014). Toward a theory of corporate governance in non-profit organizations. *Journal of American Academy of Business, Cambridge, 20*(1), 141-148. Retrieved from http://www.jaabc.com/journal.htm
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 13-35. doi:10.1163/15691621X632943
- Esmaeilzadeh, P., Sambasivan, M., & Nezakati, H (2014). The limitations of using the existing TAM in adoption of clinical decisions support system in hospitals: An empirical study in Malaysia. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Studies, 3*, 56-68. Retrieved from http://www.jisr.szabist.edu.pk/jisr-msse
- Etieyibo, E. (2013). Preliminary reflections on the privatization policy in Nigeria. *African Journal of Economic and Management Studies*, 4(1), 144-152.
  doi:10.1108/20400701311303203
- Fagbohungbe, B. O., Akinbode, G. A., & Ayodeji, F. (2012). Organizational determinants of workplace deviant behaviors: An empirical analysis in Nigeria.

International Journal of Business and Management, 7, 207-221.

doi:10.5539/ijbm.v7n5p207

Fama, E. F. (1980). Agency problems and the theory of the firm. *Journal of Political Economy*, 88, 288-307. Retrieved from

http://www.press.uchicago.edu/ucp/journals/journal/jpe.html

- Foster, A., & Urquhart, C. (2012). Modelling nonlinear information behavior:
  Transferability and progression. *Journal of Documentation*, 68, 784-805.
  doi:10.1108/00220411211277046
- Fassin, Y. (2012). Stakeholder management, reciprocity and stakeholder responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 109, 83-96. doi:10.1007/s10551-0121381-8
- Fayezi, S., O'Loughlin, A., & Zutshi, A. (2012). Agency theory and supply chain management: A structured literature review. *Supply Chain Management*, 17(5), 556-570. doi:10.1108/13598541211258618
- Fenning, F. A. (2012). Impact of quality management practices on the performance and growth of small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) in Ghana. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 1-13. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/
- Few, W. T., & Few, M. (2013). Using the repertory grid technique to surface strategic planning assumptions. *Competitiveness Review*, 23, 114-130. doi:10.1108/10595421311305334
- Fidrmus, J. P., & Jacob, M. (2012). Culture, agency cost and dividends. *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 38, 321-339. doi:10.1016/j.jce.2010.04.002

- Florea, L., Cheung, Y. H., & Herndon, N. C. (2013). For all good reasons: Role of values in organizational sustainability. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *114*, 393-408. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1355-x
- Franck, P., & Sundgren, S. (2012). Determinants of internal governance quality: Evidence from Sweden. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 27, 639-665. doi:10.1108/02686901211246796
- Frechtling, D. C., & Boo, S. (2012). On the ethics of management research: An exploratory investigation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 106, 149-160. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0986-7
- Frederick, J. A. (2015). Exploring strategies for implementing barcode medication administration systems (Doctoral Dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (1671790130)
- Gaan, N., & Gaan, P. (2014). Is transformational leadership region-centric in nature? *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9, 108-121. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n8p108
- Galbreath, J. (2012). Are boards on board? A model of corporate board influence on sustainability performance. *Journal of Management and Organization*, 18, 445-460. doi:10.5172/jmo.2012.2053
- Gerard, J. A., & Weber, C. M. (2014). How agency theory informs a \$30 million fraud. Journal of Finance, Accounting and Management, 5(1), 16-47. Retrieved from http://www.gsmi-ijgb.com/Pages/JFAM.aspx

George, O. J., Owoyemi, O., & Onokala, U. (2012). Evolution of employment and industrial relations practice: The Nigerian experience. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3, 188-196. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/

Ghana Audit Service. (2012). Report of the Auditor-General of the public accounts of Ghana (Consolidated fund) for the year ended 31 December 2011 (Report transmitted June 30, 2012). Retrieved from: http://www.ghaudit.org/reports/CONSOLIDATED\_FUND\_2011.pdf

- Gill, D. P., Jones, G. R., Zou, G., & Speechley, M. (2012). Using a single question to assess physical activity in older adults: A reliability and validity study. *BMC Medical Research Methodology 12*, 1-10. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-12-20
- Goffin, K., Raja, J. Z., Claes, B., Szwejczewski, M., & Martinez, V. (2012). Rigor in qualitative supply chain management research. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 42*, 804-827.

doi:10.1108/09600031211269767

- Gordon, T., Nichter, M., & Henriksen, R. C. (2013). Raising black males from a black father's perspective: A phenomenological study. *The Family Journal*, 21, 154-161. doi:10.1177/1066480712466541
- Grant, D., Juntunen, J., Juga, J., & Juntunen, M. (2014). Investigating brand equity of third-party service providers. *The Journal of Services Marketing*, 28, 214-222. doi:10.1108/jsm-06-2012-0104

- Greaney, A. M., Sheehy, A., Heffernan, C., Murphy, J., Mhaolrúnaigh, S. N., Heffernan, E., & Brown, G. (2012). Research ethics application: A guide for the novice researcher. *British Journal of Nursing*, 21(1), 38-43. Retrieved from http://info.britishjournalofnursing.com/
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N.
  K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 105-117). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Guo, I., Smallman, C., & Radford, J. (2013). A critique of corporate governance in China. *International Journal of Law and Management*, 55, 257-272. doi:10.1108/ijlma-10-2011-0012
- Gupta M., & Hodges, N. (2012). Corporate social responsibility in the apparel industry.
   *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management*, 16, 216-233.
   doi:10.1108/13612021211222833
- Hardi, P., & Buti, K. (2012). Corporate governance variables: Lessons from a holistic approach to Central-Eastern European practice. *Corporate Governance*, 12(1), 101-117. doi:10.1108/14720701211191364
- Harwiki, W., & Suryasaputra, R. (2014). Implementation of cooperatives' principles on ranked cooperatives, East Java 2012. *Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies, 6*, 340-350. Retrieved from http://www.ifrnd.org/journals.jebs.htm
- Hashim, A. (2013). A conceptual framework for antecedents and consequence of organizational learning capability. *Information Management and Business Review*, 5, 577-583. Retrieved from http://journals.indexcopernicus.com/

- Hasnas, J. (2013). Whither stakeholder theory? A guide for the perplexed revisited. *Journal of Business Ethics, 112*, 47-57. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1231-8
- Helmich, D. L., & Gilroy, K. R. (2012). CEO succession and organizational transitions:
  Case of state-owned enterprises. *Chinese Management Studies*, *6*, 568-581.
  doi:10.1108/17506141211280263
- Heng-Li, Y., & Chien-Liang, L. (2014). Why do people stick to Facebook web site? A value theory-based view. *Information Technology & People, 27*(1), 21-37. doi:10.1108/ITP-11-2012-0130
- Hitch, M., Ravichandran, A. K., & Mishra, V. (2014). A real options approach to implementing corporate social responsibility policies at different stages of the mining process. *Corporate Governance*, 14(1), 45-57. doi:10.1108/CG-07-2012-0060

Hou, Y., Huang, Q., Prakash, R., & Chaudhury, S. (2013). Infrequent near death experiences in severe brain injury survivors: A quantitative and qualitative study.

Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology, 16, 75-81. doi:10.4103/0972-2327.107715

- Hsu, C., Backhouse, J., & Silva, L. (2014). Institutionalizing operational risk
  management: An empirical study. *Journal of Information Technology*, 29(1), 5972. doi:10.1057/jit.2013.15
- Huhtala, M., Feldt, T., Hyvönen, K., & Mauno, S. (2013). Ethical organizational culture as a context for managers' personal work goals. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 114, 265-282. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1346-y

- Jain, P. K., Gupta, S., & Yadav, S. S. (2014). *Public sector enterprises in India*. New Delhi, India; Springer.
- James, M. E. (2012). The international competitiveness of Jamaican manufacturing firms: A qualitative inquiry. *Journal of American Academy of Business*, 18, 91-99. Retrieved from http://www.jaabc.com/journal.htm
- Jebrin, A. H., & Ajlouni, M. (2012). The fit between business ethics and the approach to total quality management suggested model. *Journal of Management Research*, 4, 1-30. doi:10.5296/jmr.v4i1.938
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *3*, 305-360. doi:10.1016/0304-405X(76)90026-X
- Jiang, L. (2014). Internal consistency of demographic assumptions in the shared socioeconomic pathways. *Population and Environment*, 35, 261-285. doi:10.1007/s11111-014-0206-3
- Jizi, M. I., Salama, A., Dixon, R., & Stratling, R. (2014). Corporate governance and corporate social responsibility disclosure: Evidence from the US banking sector. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 125, 601-615. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1929-2
- Kamel, H., & Elbanna, S. (2012). Investigating the phenomenon of earnings management in the Egyptian stock market. *Corporate Governance*, *12*, 337-352. doi:10.1108/14720701211234591

- Khajeh, M., Mahallati, T., Shaibani, A., & Khodarahmi, S. (2014). The role of intellectual capital in facilitating knowledge management practices. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 4, 184-191. doi:10.5539/jms.v4n3p184
- Khan S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method: Grounded theory. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *9*, 224-233. doi.10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p224
- Khlif, W., & Pousset, J. (2014). It takes (more than) two to tango: Informal tango market dynamics in Barcelona. *Society and Business Review*, 9(1), 36-50. doi:10.1108/SBR-06-2013-0043
- Kiprop, C. J., Okoth-Yogo, D., & Charagu, K. G. (2014). Analysis of employees' perceptions of performance contracting in the ministry lands, Kenya. *Administratie Si Management Public, 22*(26-40), Retrieved from http://www.ramp.ase.ro/
- Klychova, G. S., Faskhutdinova, M. S., & Sadrieva, E. R. (2014). Budget efficiency for cost control purposes in management accounting system. *Mediterranean Journal* of Social Sciences, 5(24), 79-83. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n24p79
- Kriemadis, T., & Pelagidis, T., Kartakoullis, N. (2012). The role of organizational culture in Geek businesses. *EuroMed Journal of Business*, 7, 129-141. doi:10.1108/14502191211245570
- Kuntz, J. R. C., Kuntz, J. R., Elenkov, D., & Nabirukhina, A. (2013). Characterizing ethical cases: A cross-cultural investigation of individual differences, organizational climate, and leadership on ethical decision-making. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *113*, 317-331. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1306-6

- Lavender, D. T., Omoni, G., & Lee, K. (2012). A pilot quasi-experimental study to determine the feasibility of implementing a partograph e-learning tool for student midwife training in Nairobi. *Midwifery*, 29, 876-884. Retrieved from doi:10.1016/j.midw.2012.10.003
- Lempp, H., Hofmann, D., Hatch, S. L., & Scott, D. L. (2012). Patients' views about treatment with combination therapy for rheumatoid arthritis: A comparative qualitative study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *13*, 200-208. doi:10.1186/1471-2474-13-200
- Li, J., & Madsen, J. (2011). Business ethics and workplace guanxi in Chinese SOEs: A qualitative study. *Journal of Chinese Human Resources Management*, 2(2), 83-99. doi:10.1108/20408001111179140
- Lin L., & Milhaupt, C. J. (2013). We are the (national) champions: Understanding the mechanisms of state capitalism in China. *Stanford Law Review*, 65, 697-759. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1952623
- Lordly, D., MacLellan, D., Gingras, J., & Brady, J. (2012). A team-based approach to qualitative inquiry: The collaborative retreat. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research*, 73, 91-97. doi:10.3148/73.2.2012.91
- Luk, S., & Ching, Y. (2012). Questions of ethics in public sector management: The case study of Hong: *Journal of Business Research*, *41*, 361-378.
  doi:10.1177/009102601204100207
- Luu, T. T. (2012). Corporate social responsibility, ethics, and corporate governance. Social Responsibility Journal, 8, 547-560. doi:10.1108/17471111211272110

- Makono, C., & Nyaruawata, L. T. (2014). An analysis of performance management practices of the Zimbabwe Republic police: A case study of the Zimbabwe Republic police Midlands Province. *The International Journal of Business & Management, 2*, 29-33. Retrieved from http://www.theijbm.com/
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. *The Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1), 11-22. Retrieved from http://iacis.org/jcis/index.htm
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2015). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Martínez-Graña, A. M., Goy, J. L., & Zazo, C. (2013). Cartographic-environmental analysis of the landscape in natural protected parks for his management using GIS. Application to the natural parks of the "las Batuecas-Sierra de Francia" and "quilamas" (central system, Spain). *Journal of Geographic Information System*, 5(1), 54-68. doi:10.4236/jgis.2013.51006
- McAreavey, R., & Das, C. (2013). A delicate balancing act: Negotiating with gatekeepers for ethical research when researching minority communities. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 12*(1), 113-131. Retrieved from https://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/
- Mejia, C., & Phelan, K. V. (2014). Hospitality instructors' preference for blended teaching: A bridge to full online course delivery? *Journal of Teaching in Travel & Tourism, 14*, 343-364. doi:10.1080/15313220.2014.955304

- Merriam, S. B. (2014). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (2nd ed.). Indianapolis, IN: Jossey-Bass.
- Michael, N. B. (2013). Agency conflict and corporate dividend policy decisions in Nigeria. Asian Economic and Financial Review, 3, 1110-1121. Retrieved from http://www.aessweb.com/journal-detail.php?id=5002
- Mikkelsen, E. N. (2013). A researcher's tale: How doing conflict research shapes research about conflict. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 8(1), 33-49. doi:10.1108/17465641311327504
- Miletkov, M. K., Poulsen, A. B., & Wintoki, M. B. (2014). The role of corporate board structure in attracting foreign investors. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 29, 143-157. doi:10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2014.06.005
- Modigliani, F., & Miller, M. (1958). The cost of capital, corporate finance and the theory of investment. *American Economic Review*, 48, 261-297.Retrieved from http://www.aeaweb.org/aer/index.php
- Morris, B. C. L., & Roseman, B. S. (2015). Dividends as a solution to agency cost and opaqueness: Theory and evidence. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 7(1), 24-36. doi:10.5539/ijef.v7n1p24
- Muilerman, S., Schlapfer, J., & Tisselli, E. (2013). Sharing local knowledge. *Appropriate Technology*, 40(2), 42-44. Retrieved from

http://www.researchinformation.co.uk/apt.php

Myrden, S. E., & Kelloway, E. K. (2014). Service guarantees: The impact of playing hard to get on perceptions of firm creditability and repurchase intent. *Journal of*  Consumer Satisfaction, Dissatisfaction and Complaining Behavior, 27, 55-69. Retrieved from http://lilt.ilstu.edu/staylor/csdcb

Neuman, W. L. (2013). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches (8th ed.). Lebanon, IN: Pearson.

Neves, M. E. D. (2014). Institutional factors and investors sentiments for dividends. Journal of Applied Finance and Banking, 4, 19-45. Retrieved from http://www.scienpress.com/journal\_focus.asp?Main\_Id=56

- Ngamvichaikit, A., & Beise-Zee, R. (2014). Customer preference for decision authority in credence services. *Managing Service Quality*, *24*, 274-299. doi:10.1108/MSQ-03-2013-0033
- Nguyen, P., & Crase, L. (2011). Vietnam's state-owned enterprise reform. Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics, 23, 411-422. doi:10.1108/13555851111143286
- Nuutinen, M., & Lappalainen, I. (2012). Towards service-oriented organizational culture in manufacturing companies. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, 4, 137-155. doi:10.1108/17566691211232882
- Odainkey, H. N., & Simpson, N. Y. (2012). Ensuring accountability in state-owned enterprises (SOEs): Examining the role of annual reports a middle income country's perspective. *Journal of Institute of Public Enterprises, 36*(1/2) 1-2. Retrieved from http://www.transparencyconference.nl/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/odainkey.pdf

- Oghojafor, B., George, O., & Owoyemi, O. (2012). Corporate governance and national culture are Siamese twins: The case of Cadbury (Nigeria) PLC. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 269-278. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/
- Ohemeng, F. (2010). The dangers of internationalization and "one-size-fits-all" in public sector management. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 23, 456-478. doi:10.1108/09513551011058484
- Oluwasanmi, O., & Ogidi, O. (2014). Public private partnership and Nigerian economic growth: Problems and prospects. *International Journal of Business and Social Science, 5*, 132-139. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Leech, N. L., Slate, J. R., Stark, M., Sharma, B., Frels, R., . . . Combs, J. P. (2012). An exemplar for teaching and learning qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 17(1), 16–77. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Oppong, S. H. (2013). The problem of sampling in qualitative research. *Asian Journal of Management and Sciences Education, 2*, 202-210. Retrieved from http://www.ajmse.leena-luna.co.jp/
- Othman, Z., & Rahman, R. (2014). Attributes of ethical leadership in good governance. *International Journal of Business and Society, 15*, 1511-6670. Retrieved from http://www.ijbs.unimas.my/ijbs

- Othman, Z., & Rahman, R. (2011). Exploration of ethics as moral substance in the context of corporate governance. *Asian Social Science*, 7(8), 173-182. doi:10.5539/ass.v7n8p173
- Otieno, C. F., Kaseje, D., Ochieng, B. M., & Githae, M. N. (2012). Reliability of community health worker collected data for planning and policy in a peri-urban area of Kisumu, Kenya. *Journal of Community Health*, *37*, 48-53. doi:10.1007/s10900-011-9414-2
- Otoo, K. N., Osei-Boateng, C., & Asafu-Adjaye, P. (2009). The labor market in Ghana. A descriptive analysis of the labor market component of the Ghana living standard survey. Retrieved from http://www.ghanatuc.org/wpcontent/uploads/2012/01/The-Labour-Market-in-Ghana.pdf
- Paldam, M. (2013). Regression costs fall, mining ratios rise, publication bias looms, and techniques get fancier. Reflections on some trends in empirical macroeconomics. *Econ Journal Watch*, 10, 136-156. Retrieved from http:// http://econjwatch.org/
- Parker, L. D. (2012). Qualitative management accounting research: Accessing deliverables and relevance. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 23(1), 54-70. doi:10/1016/j.cpa.2011.06.002
- Patelli, L., & Pedrini, M. (2015). Is tone at the top associated with financial reporting aggressiveness? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 126(1), 3-19. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1994-6

- Peecher, M. E., Solomon, I., & Trotman, K. T. (2013). An accountability framework for financial statement auditors and related research questions. *Accounting, Organizations and Society, 38*, 596-620. doi:10.1016/j.aos.2013.07.002
- Pereira, H. R. (2012). Rigor in phenomenological research: Reflections of a novice nurse researcher. *Nurse Researcher*, *19*, 16-19. doi:10.7748/nr2012.04.19.3.16.c9054
- Peters, R., & Golden, P. (2013). Stakeholder networks and strategy: The influence of network consistency and network diversity on firm performance. *Journal of Business Strategies*, 30, 120-144. Retrieved from http://coba.shsu.edu/jbs/
- Pham, L. (2011). Impact of applying human resource management practices on equitized state-owned enterprises financial performance in Vietnam. *Journal of International Business Research*, 10, 79-90. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/Public/Journals/JournalDetails.aspx?jid=15
- Pirie, W. L., & McCuddy, M. K. (2007). A preliminary test of the validity of a proposed intertemporal stewardship theory. *Managerial Finance*, *33*, 970-979. doi:10.1108/03074350710831747
- Pirson, M., & Turnbull, S. (2011). Toward a more humanistic governance model: Network governance structures. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 99, 101-114. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0752-x
- Podrug, N. (2011). Corporate governance as a learning process: Organizational and societal levels. *Megatrend Review*, 8, 95-112. Retrieved from http://www.megatrendreview.com/index.php/sr/

- Pomering, A. (2013). Indigenous identity in the nation brand: Tension and inconsistency in a nation's tourism advertising campaigns. *Corporate Reputation Review*, 16, 66-79. doi:10.1057/crr2012.26
- Porth, L., Zhu, W., & Seng Tan, K. (2014). A credibility-based Erlang mixture model for pricing crop reinsurance. *Agricultural Finance Review*, 74(2), 162-187. doi:10.1108/afr-04-2014-0006
- Prati, L. M., & Prati, R. (2014). Relational coordination: A framework for building trust in the entrepreneurial setting. *Business Renaissance Quarterly*, 9(1), 31-49.
  Retrieved from http://www.journals.uchigo.edu/toc/rq/current
- Pratuckchai, W., & Patanapongse, W. (2012). The study of management control systems in state owned enterprises: A proposed conceptual framework. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 5, 83-115. Retrieved from http://www.ijoionline.org/
- Prowse, M., & Camfield, L. (2013). Improving the quality of development assistance:
  What role for qualitative methods in randomized experiments? *Progress in Development Studies, 13*, 51-61. doi:10.1177/146499341201300104
- Puni, A., Osei, B. A., & Ofei, S. B. (2014). The effect of board composition on corporate financial performance: Evidence from listed firms in Ghana. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9, 170-178. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n8p170
- Purnell, L., & Freemen, R. (2012). Stakeholder theory, fact/value dichotomy, and the normative core: How Wall Street stops the ethics conversation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 109, 109-116. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1383-6

- Quoquab, F., Norjaya Mohd, Y., Rozhan, A. D. (2014). A qualitative inquiry of multibrand loyalty. *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, *26*, 250-271. doi:10.1108/apjml-02-2013-0023
- Rachagan, S., & Kuppusamy, K. (2013). Encouraging whistle blowing to improve corporate governance? A Malaysian initiative. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 115, 367-382. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1402-7
- Raelin, J. D., & Bondy, K. (2013). Putting the good back in good corporate governance: The presence and problems of double-layered agency theory. *Corporate Governance: An International Review, 21*, 420–435. doi:10.1111/corg.12038
- Rafiee, V., Sarabdeen, J. (2012). The cultural influence in the practice of corporate governance in emerging markets. *Communication of IBIMA*, 1-10, doi:10.5171/2012.4444553
- Rahman, M. M. (2014). Trade liberalization and gender gap: Bangladesh experience. *The Journal of Applied Business and Economics*, 16(2), 57-69. Retrieved from http //www.na-businesspress.com/jabeopen.html
- Rama, D. M. (2012). Corporate governance and corruption: Ethical dilemmas of Asian business groups Korea. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *109*, 501-519. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1142-0.
- Ramamurti, R. (2000). A multilevel model of privatization in emerging economies. *Academy of Management Review, 25*, 525-550. Retrieved from http://aom.org/amr/

- Republic of Ghana Ministry of Finance. (2014). 2014 Budget statement and economic policy (2014\_Budget\_Appendix.xlsx). Retrieved from http://www.mofep.gov.gh/?q=budget-statements
  Republic of Ghana Ministry of Finance. (2013). 2013 John Dramani Mahama's State of the nation's address. Retrieved from http://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/NewArchive/artikel.php?ID=26557
  - 6
- Republic of Ghana Ministry of Trade & Industry (2012). *Implementation of the Ghana shared growth and development agenda (GSDA)*. Retrieved from http://www.ndpc.gov.gh/GPRS/
- Roter, A. B., & Spangenburg, J. (2013). A phenomenological study of registered nurses exposed to toxic leadership behaviors: What it means to health care organizations. *Journal of American Business Review, Cambridge, 2*(1), 101-108. Retrieved from http://www.jaabc.com/jabrc.html
- Sáenz González, J., & García-Meca, E. (2014). Does corporate governance influence earnings management in Latin American markets? *Journal of Business Ethics*, *121*, 419-440. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1700-8
- Salama, D., & Khalifa, Y. H. (2014). Underpricing the privatized state-owned Egyptian enterprises: Was it misleading? Global Conference on Business & Finance. *Institute for Business & Finance Research, 9*(1), 255-264. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com/archive/program-hawaii-2014-pre.pdf

- Sam, C. (2013). Partial privatization and the role of state owned holding companies in China. *Journal of Management & Governance*, 17, 767-789. doi:10.1007/s10997-011-9190-5
- Sammut-Bonnici, T., & Paroutis, S. (2013). Developing a dominant logic of strategic innovation. *Management Research Review*, 36, 924-938. doi:10.1108/MRR-08-2013-0184
- Sandbu, M. (2012). Stakeholder duties: On the moral responsibility of corporate investors. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 109, 97-107. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1382-7
- Santicola, L. (2013). Pressing on: Persistence through a doctoral cohort program in education. *Contemporary Issues in Education Research*, 6(2), 253-264. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/contemporary-issues-in-education-research-cier/
- Sax, H., Clack, L., Touveneau, S., Jantarada, F. D. L., Pittet, D., & Zingg, W. (2013).
   Implementation of infection control best practice in intensive care units throughout Europe: A mixed-method evaluation study. *Implementation Science*, 8, 24-35. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-8-24
- Schein, E. H. (1984). Coming to a new awareness of organizational culture. Sloan Management Review, 25(2), 3-16. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu/
- Schreurs, J., Martens, P., & Kok, G. (2012). Living with less as a transformation process *Qualitative Market Research*, *15*, 188-205. doi:10.1108/13522751211215895

- Seidman, I. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Sen, S., & Cowley, J. (2013). The relevance of stakeholder theory and social capital theory in the context of CSR in SMEs: An Australian perspective. *Journal of Business Ethics* 189, 413-427. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1598-6
- Serban, A. A. M. (2013). The role and importance of the corporate governance in the managerial decisions. *International Journal of Academic Research in Economics* and Management Sciences, 2(1), 188-197. Retrieved from http://hrmars.com/index.php/pages/detail/IJAREMS
- Shoup, V. A. (2015). One hospital's patient satisfaction plans in response to a changing healthcare environment (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (1666453495)
- Shuhui, S. C., & Seeger, M. W. (2012). Business ethics; corporate communications; business failures; executives; HIH Group (Company). *International Journal of Business & Management*, 8, 74-86. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v7n12p74
- Simpson, S. N. Y. (2014). Boards and governance of state-owned enterprises. *Corporate Governance*, *14*, 238-251. doi:10.1108/cj-08-2012-0063
- Singh, P. K. (2012). Management of business processes can help an organization achieve competitive advantage. *International Management Review*, 8, 19-26. Retrieved http://www.usimr.org/
- Skerlavaj, M., Su, C., & Huang, M. (2013). The moderating effects of national culture on the development of organizational learning culture: A multilevel study across

seven countries. *Journal for East European Management Studies, 18*, 97-134. Retrieved from http://www.hampp-verlag.de/hampp\_e-journals\_JEMS.htm

- Skinner, D. J., & Srinivasan, S. (2012). Audit quality and auditor reputation: Evidence from Japan. *The Accounting Review*, 87, 1737–1765. Retrieved from http://aaahq.org/
- Smith, A. (1776). The wealth of nations. Edited by Edwin Cannan 1904. Reprint edition 1937. New York, NY: Modern Library.
- Sousa, M. D. M., & Figueiredo, R. S. (2014). Credit analysis using data mining: Application in the case of a credit union. *Journal of Information Systems and Technology Management: JISTEM*, 11(2), 379-396. doi.10.4301/s1807-17752014000200009
- Sroka, W., Cygler, J., & Gajdzik, B. (2014). The transfer of knowledge in intraorganizational networks: A case study analysis. *Organizacija*, 47(1), 24-34. doi.10.2478/orga-2014-0003
- Stankovic, I. (2013). Organizational behavior of employees in the manufacturing behavior environment: An engineering perspective. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 6, 49-53. Retrieved from http://www.ijoi-online.org/
- Stout, M., & Love, J. (2013). Ethical choice making. *Public Administration Quarterly*, 37, 278-294. Retrieved from http://www.spaef.com/paq.php
- Stumpf, S. A., Doh, J. P., & Tymon, W. G. (2010). The strength of HR practices in India and their effects on employee career success, performance, and potential

governance practices. Human Resource Management, 49, 353-375.

doi:10.1002/hrm.20361

- Suter, W. N. (2012). Introduction to educational research: A critical thinking approach (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Sutherland, A. M., Tabuchi, R. L., Moore, S., & Lewis, V. R. (2014). Borescope-aided inspection may be useful in some drywood termite detection situations. *Forest Products Journal*, 64, 304-309. doi:10.13073/fpj-d-13-00087
- Sutten, D. J., Hocking, C. S., & Smythe, L. A. (2012). A phenomenological study of occupational engagement in recovery from mental illness. *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 79, 142-150. doi:10.2182/cjot.2012.79.3.3
- Swaratsingh, K. (2015). Enhancing workplace productivity and competitiveness in Trinidad and Tobago through ICT adoption (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (1673196358)
- Tanlamai, U., & Juta, P. (2011). Performance assessment in Thai state owned enterprises. Journal of American Academy of Business, Cambridge, 17, 223-231. Retrieved from http://www.jaabc.com/journal.htm
- Taufiqurrahman. T. (2011). Board knowledge of corporate governance principles: An assessment at state-owned enterprises in Indonesia. *Global Science and Technology Forum*, 7-8, 31-35. doi:10.5176\_2010-4804\_1.1.24
- Theriault, D. (2014). Organized leisure experiences of LBGTQ youth: Resistance and oppression. *Journal of Leisure Research, 46*, 448-461. Retrieved from http://js.sagamorepub.com/jlr

- Thomas, A. (2012). Governance at South African state-owned enterprises: What do annual reports and the print media tell us? *Social Responsibility Journal*, *8*, 448-470. doi:10.1108/17471111211272057
- Tidor, A., Gelmereanu, C., Barus, P., Morar, L (2012). Diagnosing organizational culture for SME. *Procedia Economics and Finance Performance*, *3*, 710-715. doi:10.1016/s2212-567(12)00218-3
- Tipu, S. A. A., Ryan, J. C., & Fantazy, K. A. (2012). Transformational leadership in Pakistan: An examination of the relationship of transformational leadership to organizational culture and innovation propensity. *Journal of Management and Organization, 18*, 461-480. doi:10.5172/jmo.2012.18.4.461
- Tonah, S. (2006). The presidential special initiative on cassava: A bane or blessing to Ghana's smallholder farmers. *Ghana Journal of Development Studies*, *3*(1), 66-84. doi:10.4314%2Fgjds.v3i1.35034
- Tsamenyi, M., Onumah, J., & Tetteh-Kumah, E. (2010). Post-privatization performance and organizational changes: Case studies from Ghana. *Critical Perspective on Accounting*, 21, 428-442. doi:10.1016/j.cpa.2008.01.002
- Trivedi, S., & Raval, D. (2015). Review of literature on the study of linkage between human resource management practices and organizational performance.
   *International Journal*, 3(6). 314-323. Retrieved from www.ijarcsms.com
- Tsegba, I. N., & Ezi-Herbert, W. (2011). The relationship between ownership structure and firm performance: Evidence from Nigerian listed companies. *African Journal*

*of Accounting, Economics, Finance and Banking Research, 7*(7), 51-63. Retrieved from http://www.globip.com/africanjournal.htm

- Ursacescu, M., & Cioc, M. (2012). A study regarding the implementation of corporate governance principles in the public enterprises in Romania. *Management Research and Practice*, 4(2), 20-32. Retrieved from http://www.mrp.ase.ro/
- Van den Berg, N., Grabe, H., Freyberger, H. J., & Hoffmann, W. (2011). A telephoneand text-message based telemedical care concept for patients with mental health disorders: Study protocol for a randomized, controlled study design. *BMC Psychiatry*, 11, 30-36. doi:10.1186/1471-244X-11-30
- Vo, T. Q., & Nguyen, D. C. (2011). Corporate ownership and organizational culture in a transition economy: The case of Vietnam. *International Journal of Economics* and Finance, 3(4), 36-47. doi:10.5539/ijef.v3n4p36
- Vogt, D., Maniam, B., & Leavell, H. (2013). Historical perspectives of corporate governance: Have the increased regulations changed corporate America? *Journal* of American Business Review, Cambridge, 1(2), 12-18. Retrieved from http://www.jaabc.com/jabrc.html

Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and motivation. San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.

- Wafler, B. H., & Swierczek, F. (2014). Closing the distance: A grounded theory of adaptation. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, 8(1), 65-80. doi:10.1108/JABS-11-2012-0050
- Walters, J. E., Cameron-Tucker, H., Courtney-Pratt, H., Nelson, M., Robinson, A., Scott,J., & Wood-Baker, R. (2012). Supporting health behavior change in chronic

obstructive pulmonary disease with telephone health mentoring: Insights from a qualitative study. *BMC Family Practice*, *13*, 55-61. doi:10.1186/1471-2296-13-55

- Wang, L., & Judge, W. Q. (2012). Managerial ownership and the role of privatization in transition economies: The case of China. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 29(2), 479-498. doi:10.1007/s10490-010-9205-9
- Wang, D., Xiang, Z., & Fesenmaier, D. R. (2014). Adapting to the mobile world: A model of smartphone use. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 48, 11-26. doi:10.1016/j.annals.2014.04.008
- Wanto, H. S., & Suryasaputra, R. (2012). The effect of organizational culture and organizational learning towards the competitive strategy and company performance (case study of East Java SMEs in Indonesia: Food and beverage industry). *Information Management and Business Review*, 4(9), 467-476.
  Retrieved from http://www.ifrnd.org/JournalDetail.aspx?JournalID=1
- Weitzner, D., & Peridis, T. (2011). Corporate governance as part of the strategic process:
  Rethinking the role of the Board. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *102*, 33-42.
  doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1195-0
- Whitehead, A. M., Czarnogorski, M., Wright, S. M., Hayes, P. M., & Haskell, S. G.
  (2014). Improving trends in gender disparities department of veterans' affairs:
  2008-2013. American Journal of Public Health, 104, 529-531.
  doi:10.2015/ajph.2014.302141

- Williams. N., Ferdinand, N. P., & Croft, R. (2014). Project management maturity in the age of big data. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 7(2), 311-317. doi:10.1108/ijmpb-01-2014-0001
- Williamson, O. (1988). Corporate finance and corporate governance. *Journal of Finance*, 43, 567-591. doi:10.2307/2328184
- Winkelhage, J., & Diederich, A. (2012). The relevance of personal characteristics in allocating health care resources-controversial preferences of laypersons with different educational backgrounds. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 9*, 223-243. doi:10.3390/ijerph9010223
- Wood, D. R., Gilbreath, G. H., Rutherford, M. W., & O'Boyle, E. H. (2014). Competitive operations priorities and firm performance in small community banks: A test of trade-offs. *Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship, 19*(4), 82-106. Retrieved from http://www.huizenga.nova.edu/jame
- Woods, P., & Lamond, D. (2011). What would Confucius do? Confusion ethics and selfregulation in management. *International Journal of Law and Management*, 51, 169-178. doi:10.1108/17542430910959245
- World of Garment-Textile-Fashion (2013, August 23). Ghana government to revive Volta star textile mill. Retrieved from:http://www.fibre2fashion.com/news/textile-news/ghana/newsdetails.aspx?news\_id=150754
- Yanow, D. (2012). Organizational ethnography between toolbox and world-making. Journal of Organizational Ethnography, 1, 31-42. doi:10.1108/202466741211220633

- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research design and methods*. (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yonnedi, E. (2010). Privatization, organizational change and performance: Evidence from Indonesia. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 23, 537-563. doi:10.1108/09534811011071270
- Zanon, C. J., Filho, A. G., Jabbour, C. J., & Jabbour, A. B. (2013). Alignment of operations strategy: Exploring the marketing interface. *Industrial Management* + *Data Systems*, 113(2), 207-233. doi:10.1108/02635571311303541
- Zhao, F., Xie, F., Hu, H., & Li, S. (2013). Transferability of indirect cost of chronic disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PharmacoEconomics*, 31, 501-508. doi:10.1007/s40273-013-0053-6

### Appendix A: Letter of Cooperation

24/08/2015

Dear Edward Boateng,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled Management of State-Owned Enterprises: The Special Projects of Ghana. As part of this study, I authorize you to engage the staff of the PSIs and special project companies concerned. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include: technical and managerial staff, and conference rooms. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincerely,

## Appendix B: Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study of the Presidential Special Initiative of Ghana (PSI) and special project companies. The researcher is inviting technical and managerial staff of the companies indicated to be in the study. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part.

This study is being conducted by a researcher named Edward Boateng, who is a doctoral student at Walden University. You may already know the researcher as a former Chief Accountant of the Ministry of Trade and Industry, but this study is separate from that role.

### **Background Information:**

The purpose of this study is to identify ways to improve the competitiveness of the PSIs and special projects in the global market place.

## **Procedures:**

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to participate in a face-to-face interview that will take a maximum of 30 minutes to discuss issues relating to the operations of the company. Interviews will be recorded and after the conclusion of the interview I will compile a written transcript and ask you to review the document to validate the content of the transcript.

Here are the interview questions:

- Explain the role the board plays with the challenges that affect the organization's performance.
- What role does the board play in the organization's operation?
- What financial and operational controls exist in your company's day-to-day operations?
- How does the board influence the cultural values of management and staff of your company?
- Describe any operational risks your company faces.
- What performance measures do management, board members, or regulators use to monitor operations?
- How are appropriate candidates identified and recruited into your company?
- What performance-related incentives exist to motivate employees in your company?

# Voluntary Nature of the Study:

This study is voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you choose to be in the study. No one at the Ministry of Trade, the PSIs and special project

companies will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to join the study now, you can still change your mind later. You may stop at any time.

## **Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:**

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as fatigue, stress, or becoming upset. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing.

The study may add new information in the advocacy for change in the management of State Owned Enterprises.

## **Payment:**

The equivalence of \$60 in local currency would be given to participants as allowance for participating in the study. The amounts shall be paid in cash once the consent is given and the interview process begins.

## **Privacy:**

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. Data will be kept secure by codifying them and storing them in the researcher's private library. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university.

### **Contacts and Questions:**

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher via 0249832146 / 0544336947; edaboat@yahoo.com. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University representative who can discuss this with you. Her phone number is 001-612-312-1210. Walden University's approval number for this study is <u>09-11-150316327IRB</u> and it expires on <u>September 10, 2016.</u>

The researcher will give you a copy of this form to keep

# **Statement of Consent:**

I have read the above information and I feel I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement. By signing below, I understand that I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Printed Name of Participant

Date of consent	
Participant's Signature	
Researcher's Signature	

#### Appendix C: Interview Protocol

**Interview:** Finding out about the operational and governance control strategies the SOE leaders need to implement to improve the competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects.

1. I will begin the interviews with greetings and getting to the participant, and also introducing myself to the participants. After which I will introduce the research topic.

2. I will introduce myself to the participant and show appreciation to them for taking time off their actitivies in order to respond to the call

3. The participants will be requested to read the consent form and seek clarifications on any issues that bother them before they sign the consent form.

4. A copy of the consent form will be given to the participants for their records.

5. The participants will be notified of the interview procedure that involves the use of a tape recorder to record interviews, and the taking of notes before the process begins.

6. The interview will span between 30 and 60 minutes for responses to the eight interview questions, in addition to any follow-up questions.

7. I will indicate to the participants that I will make available transcripts of the interview report to them.

8. I will thank the participants for taking part in the research at the end of the session.

#### Appendix D: Interview Questions

The following eight semistructured interview questions facilitated an in-depth discussion with participants to help address the research question:

- 1. Explain the role the board plays with the challenges that affect the organization's performance.
- 2. What role does the board play in the organization's operation?
- 3. What financial and operational controls exist in your company's day-to-day operations?
- 4. How does the board influence the cultural values of management and staff of your company?
- 5. Describe any operational risks your company faces.
- 6. What performance measures do management, board members, or regulators use to monitor operations?
- 7. How are appropriate candidates identified and recruited into your company?
- 8. What performance-related incentives exist to motivate employees in your company?

#### Appendix E: Case Study Protocol

- A. Case Study Introduction
  - 1. Research Question

What operational and governance control strategies do SOE leaders need to implement to improve the competitiveness and efficiency of SOE special projects?

2. Conceptual Framework

Conceptual framework underpinning this study is the agency theory. The roots of agency theory dates back to the early 20th century (Berle & Means, 1932).

- B. Purpose of Protocol and its relevance
  - 1. The purpose of the protocol is to be used as guide to the researcher in the collection of data, its analysis, findings and conclusions drawn from it.
  - 2. The use of the protocol would be for the purposes of the ensuring that the case study methods are dependability and so are the findings, and conclusions therefrom.
- C. Data Collection Procedures
  - Data would be collected through face-to-face interview of management and technical staff of four State Owned Enterprise (SOE) special project companies at the company sites. Data would be collaborated with a review of

company documents such as operational manual, minutes, and financial reports.

- 2. The researcher will adopt a purposive sampling of management and technical staff of the selected SOE special project companies in Ghana.
- 3. The contact of persons for the interview will be facilitated by the administrators at the ministry of trade and the regional trade directors of the regions where the special project companies are sited. After the names of potential participants have been obtained contact would be made by phone and face-to-face engagements before commencement of the interviews.
- Expected preparation activities occur prior to conducting interviews through face-to-face.
  - a) Informed consent forms will be prepared for each participant
  - b) Time will be spent to explain the interview questions to participants.
  - c) Participants will be informed of the interview procedure and the need for them to have copies the consent forms.
  - d) All questions regarding the process would be dealt with before commencement
- 5. Data collection tools
  - a) Digital audio recordingsCompany operational manuals and reports
  - b) Researcher field notes
  - c) Observations made through site visits
- D. Outline of Case Study Report Contents

- 1. Overview of study
- 2. Presentation of the findings
- 3. Applications to professional practice
- 4. Implications for social change
- 5. Recommendations for action
- 6. Recommendations for further study
- 7. Reflections
- 8. Summary and study conclusions
- E. Case Study Interview Questions will be open-ended questions administered faceto-face at SOE special project company sites.
- F. Data Analysis Techniques and Tools
  - 1. Coding (deductive and inductive)
  - 2. Analysis tools
    - a) NVivo 10.0 software
    - b) Microsoft Word
    - c) Pen and note pads
- G. Study Creditability, transferability, dependability, and Conformability Methods
  - 1. Reliability, Dependability methods
    - a) Use of Case study protocol
    - b) Creation of Case study database
  - 2. Creditability and transferability methods
    - a) Use of interview protocol

- b) Creation of a uniform database
- c) Data form multiple sources
- d) Member checking